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ABSTRACT

On March 7th, 1936, German troops marched into the

Rhineland. This action violated the Locarno Pact, which had

forbidden Germany to maintain armed forces in the Rhineland.

The response of Great Britain, one of the guarantors of

the Locarno Pact, to this breach of treaty was indeed mild.

Britain felt that although Germany's violation of the

Locarno Pact should be condemned on moral grounds, no

military action should be taken against her.

The Locarno Powers, with the exception of Germany,

then held a series of conferences to discuss the Rhineland

occupation. During these meetings, Britain restrained the

French from adopting a more hostile attitude towards

Germany. Acting as a mediator rather than as a guarantor,

Britain tried to get France to enter into negotiations

with Germany, since Britain believed this would lessen

international tension and perhaps lead to the negotiation

0f a new Locarno Pact-~without the Rhineland clauses.

The rather close collaboration between London and Berlin

during the period of negotiations embittered the French at

times.

One of the major reasons why the British Government

adopted a conciliatory policy towards Germany was the

pacifist attitude or the British people. From the

beginning of the crisis, the newspapers, the maJOI‘ POlitical

parties, and leading public figures were almost unanimously

Opposed t0 applying military, economic, or financial sanctions
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against Germany. The average Englishman could not see the

sense of risking war merely because Hitler had chosen to

occupy his own territory.

Britain, however, is not solely responsible for

the failure of the Locarno Powers to take action against

Germany. The French Government, hampered by political

instability and lack of determination, failed to exhibit

any effectual leadership during the crisis. Belgium was

against sanctions of any nature and closely sided with

Britain during the Locarno discussions, while Italy,

estranged from the Locarno Powers because of sanctions,

adopted an almost pro—German attitude.

The state of public opinion in Great Britain, the

lack of unity among the Locarno Powers, the folly of

imposing sanctions on Germany after they had just failed

to deter Italian aggression, and the poor moral case of

going to war because German troops had occupied German

territory, left the British Government little choice but

to adopt a conciliatory policy.
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INTRODUCTION

On March 7, 1936, German troops marched into the

Rhineland. This daring act caused much tension and alarm

in Western Europe and the world at large for it involved a

violation not only of the Treaty of Versailles but of the

Locarno Pact as well. The reoccupation of the Rhineland was

only one of a number of crises with which Hitler confronted

Europe during the inter-war period. What.makes the Rhineland

crisis particularly significant is that the military advan-

tage in 1936 rested overwhelmingly with the Western democratic

Powers and their allies. So weak was the state of the German

army in 1936 that the German generals made Hitler promise

them that he would allow a withdrawal of the tr00ps sent

across the Rhine should the French offer serious military

Opposition.l The Rhineland affair was probably the last

time the Western Powers had a chance to stop Nazi aggressive

tbsigns short of war; after that it was too late.

The factors that made the march into the Rhineland so

significant will now be examined. First of all, the

mnneland occupation violated the treaty of Versailles. This

 

lJohn Wheeler-Bennett, The Nemesis pf Power, (New York,

19514), p. 3520





 

 

Treaty had expressly forbidden Germany to maintain on the

left bank of the Rhine or in a zone fifty kilometers to the

east of the Rhine either fortifications (Article 42) or

armed forces (Article 43). The statesmen who drew up the

Treaty of Versailles considered Articles 42 and 43 so im-

portant that they deemed a violation of them to be a "hostile

act calculated to disturb the peace of the world.“ By 1936,

however, the Treaty of Versailles was discredited among

powerful circles in the countries that had defeated Germany

in the last war. It was acknowledged that this Treaty had

been forced upon a prostrate, starving Germany, and the

Germans themselves missed no opportunity to point out that

their representatives had signed the Treaty under compulsion.

But the_Locarno Pact was a different matter. This agree-

ment had been voluntarily signed by the Germans in 1925

after negotiations in which they had had ample opportunity

to present their case at the conference table. It was Germany's

sudden and flagrant disregard of the Locarno Pact that aroused

the indignation of European statesmen. NOt only had the

Locarno Pact been signed voluntarily, but the Government of

Adolf Hitler had more than once reaffirmed its intentions to

uphold it.

Under the terms of the Locarno Pact, Belgium, France,
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and Germany agreed collectively toi__£l) maintain their com-

mon territorial boundaries, and (2) observe Articles 42 and

43 of the Treaty of Versailles. Italy and Britain acted as

guarantors of the Locarno Pact. In case a "flagrant breach"

of Articles 42 and 43 took place, each of the contracting

parties undertook to come to the aid of the aggrieved party

as soon as the guarantors had been able to satisfy them-

selves that the violation constituted an unprovoked act of

aggression. One of the weaknesses of this provision was the

association of a breach of Articles 42 and 43 with an unpro-

voked act of aggression, for the term "an act of aggression"

carried with it a strong implication that such an act in-

volved the crossing of a frontier. If one of the contracting

parties "alleged" that a less obvious breach had taken place,

the question would be referred to the Council of the League

of Nations. The Council would then decide whether a vio-

lation had, in fact, occurred. Its decision would be

communicated to the signatories of the Pact. If a violation

had been recorded, the signatories were immediately to come

to the assistance of the aggrieved party. The intricate pro-

visions of the Locarno Pact seemed to eliminate the possibility

of aggression on the Franco-German frontier once and for all.

It is no wonder that the Locarno Pact was looked upon as
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ushering in a new era of European peace. The German seizure

of the Rhineland, therefore, violated a Treaty considered to

be the very keystone of western EurOpean diplomacy.

This diplomatic overturn, however, only partially ex-

plains the importance of the German action. If Germany were

permitted to remilitarize the Rhineland, the military situ—

ation in Europe would be radically altered. France would be

faced with a heavily fortified German frontier, thus making

it impossible for France to interfere in internal German ‘

affairs as she had when she occupied the Ruhr in 1923. More-

over, the western fortifications would allow Germany to have

a freer hand in Central and Eastern Europe, and France,

blocked by Germany's defenses in the West, would be able to

give military aid to the members of the Little Entente only

at a great cost of men and material. Thus the pacts which

France had with Germany's eastern neighbors would be greatly

reduced in value. The reoccupation of the Rhineland and its

subsequent fortification was a necessary prerequisite to the

Nazi occupations of Austria and Czechoslovakia. Pierre Flandin,

the French Foreign Minister during the crisis, was well aware

of the diplomatic and military significance of this event.

A few days after the German troops reoccupied the Rhineland,

he told Stanley Baldwin, the British Prime Minister, that
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unless their countries halted Hitler's ambitions while they

still had the chance, the possibility of doing so in the

future might never again occur.2 History has born out the

truthfulness of Flandin's observations.

In planning the occupation of the Rhineland, Hitler

was conscious of the international tension that it would create,

but several factors prompted him.to act when he did. Hitler's

immediate consideration was his fear that France was about to

get an automatic Rhineland guarantee from Great Britain.

Plandin had been warned by his ambassadors in Berlin and

Iirsaw that the German Government was seriously considering

the remilitarisation of the Rhineland.3 Therefore, he began

to sound out the British Government on how it would react to

a German violation of Locarno, and presumably be pressed for

an unequivocal guarantee from Britain that she would honor

her Locarno obligations.‘ Discussions on this subject had

been conducted since January of 1936. They were supposed

 

2Pierre-Etienne rlandin, Poligiggg Frangaise (Paris

1948). P- 207. Hereafter cited as Flandin, Politigge

Branggise.

3
Paul Reynaud, ;g_§he Thidk Q; the Fight: 1930-1945,

trans. James D. Lambert (lew'York, 1955). PP. 120-121.

Hereafter cited as Reynaud, Thick 9; right.

4Reynaud, Thick _o_£ Fight, p. 121.
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to have been secret but a leak in the discussions occurred,

probably through the Quai d‘Orsay.5 Soon the newspapers

were carrying the story of Flandin's intentions. For this

reason Hitler could not afford to wait too long.

The internal situation in each of the Locarno

countries was perhaps more important than anything else in

giving Hitler some reason to believe that he might risk his

daring action with impunity. France was plagued by political

instability. Cabinets were formed and dismissed with alarming

rapidity; no less than fifteen ministries had governed France

in the five years previous to the remilitarization of the

Rhineland, Elections were to be held in April and May of

1936, and a swing to the left was regarded as inevitable.

The present coalition Government of Prime Minister Albert

Sarraut did not really command the confidence of the Chamber

and was tolerated only because of the nearness of elections.

Among the French Right, Hitler had many admirers who had ex—

changed their fear of Germany for a fear of communist Russia

and saw in a resurgent Germany a bulwark against Bolshevism.

In contrast to the pacific attitude of the Right towards

 

5Alan Campbell Johnson, Anthony Eden (New York, 1939)

p. 290. Hereafter cited as Johnson, Eden.

 



Germany, it was the traditionally pacifist Left that adopted

a belligerent tone towards Germany. As the admirers of the

Soviet Union, the French Communists and left-wing socialists

became alarmed at the violent Nazi propaganda outbursts dir-_

ected against the country. Nazism was considered by the

Left to be the triumph of pure capitalism and the increasing

regimentation of German labor seemed to substantiate this.

Still, it was doubtful whether the French Left would abandon

their traditional adherence to a policy of international

peace in order to drive German troops out of German terri-

tory.

Belgium, too, was experiencing internal difficulties.

The presence of three major political parties of almost

equal strength made government by coalition inevitable.

The country was simmering with labor troubles, and there

was a deep cleavage between the two major linguistic and

cultural groups, the Flemings and the Walloons. Although

the Flemings had achieved linguistic equality with the

French-speaking Walloons, they still made demands for more

cultural, economic and political autonomy for the Flemish-

speaking provinces.6 Extremist Flemings had also been

 

6Shepard B. Clough, "The Flemish Movement," Belgium, ed.

Jan-Albert Goris (Berkeley, 1945), p. 123.
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very vociferous in their criticism that Belgian foreign

policy had become subordinated to the interests of France.7

Elections were scheduled for May and the rise of the fascist

Rexist movement gave further cause for anxiety. The Rexists

did not hesitate to use violence in spreading their doctrine:

they threatened to drive out the corrupt "politicians and

bankers" from the government of the people. Thus, both

Belgium and France obviously lacked national unity and

Hitler gambled on the chance that this lack of domestic unity

would be reflected in their foreign policy.

A somewhat different situation existed in Great

Britain and Italy, the two guarantors of the Locarno Pact.

Both countries were free from that violent political and

social strife which hampered the effectiveness of the other

European governments. However, this did not mean that these

two countries would present a united front to a German repud-

iation of Locarno. Since 1934, when Italy had stood firm

with the western Powers against a possible Nazi seizure of

Austria, Italy's relations with Great Britain had become

 

7Frans van Cauwelaert, ”Foreign Policy, 1918 to 1940,“

gglgium, p. 134.





 

severely strained.

It was Britain, above all, that seemed to stand in the

way of Mussolini's Mediterranean ambitions. When Italian

aggression in Abyssinia had become obvious, Britain under

the guidance of Anthony Eden, then Minister for League

Affairs, persuaded the League of Nations to invoke sanctions

against Italy. Belgium and a reluctant France were among

the fifty-odd nations that voted for the sanctions. Although

sanctions never seriously endangered Italy's economy, they

did prove aggravating enough to do great damage to diplomatic

relations between Italy and Great Britain. Relations became

even worse in December of 1935 when Britain prevented a so-

lution to the Abyssinian affair by backing out of the

Hoare-Laval Pact. This Pact, drawn up by the British Foreign

Secretary and the French Prime Minister, agreed to give

Italy a sizeable piece of Abyssinian territory in addition to

extensive economic concessions in that country. When the

British public heard of this unscrupulous deal, a storm of

protest was raised and the British Government had no choice

but to drop the Pact. Soon denunciations of Italian aggression

in Abyssinia were heard more loudly than ever in the Houses

of Parliament and in the British press.

One othhe most tragic results of the entire Abyssinian
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affair was the friction it created between France and Great

Britain. This difference arose over France's desire for

security. With the rise of Nazi militarism France realized

the necessity of a strong ally. In addition to Britain,

France needed an ally that had a strategic continental

position, a powerful army, and one that was in a more be-

ligerent.mood. The logical choice was Italy. The price of

Italian friendship in 1935 seemed paltry to France-~a few

thousand miles of barbaric Africa. So when Great Britain

first demanded sanctions against Italy and then later

dropped the Hoare-Laval Pact, the French Government quite

naturally became increasingly hostile to British policy.

Franco-British relations became further strained when Eden

tried to make sanctions more effective by including oil, but

just a week before Hitler's Rhineland occupation took place,

Flandin told Eden that France would not be able to support

oil sanctions.8 Thus the seeds of discord spread by Italy's

Abyssinian adventure were plainly evident to Hitler.

In addition to Italy's isolation from the Locarno camp

and the internal disunity in France and Belgium, the probable

attitude of Great Britain undoubtedly played a major role in

 

8Reynaud, Thick 9; Fight, p. 79
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Hitler's calculations. The British Government, committed to

a policy of upholding the sanctity of treaties and resisting

aggression, might not welcome a German repudiation of the

Locarno Pact. Nevertheless, Hitler gambled that the economic

depression in Great Britain coupled with a very marked paci-

fist attitude would be sufficient to keep Britain from

taking any hostile action against a German seizure of the

Rhineland.

Great Britain was actually to play the crucial role

in the Rhineland crisis. From the very beginning of the

crisis Britain took charge of the diplomatic negotiations

and steered them away from any bellicose end. She refused

to give France-any military or moral support in order to

expel German troops from the Rhineland. Had Britain acted

more firmly, had she supported or even encouraged France

into taking vigorous measures, the fortunes of Hitler's

Reich and the entire European continent might have been

altered appreciably.

The answer to the question as to why Britain did not

'act finmly, to why she pursued a policy of neutralizing any

joint Locarno action is an important chapter in the diplo-

matic history of the inter-war period. No definitive study

of British diplomatic action during the Rhineland crisis is
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available at present. This is primarily due to the fact

that the principal foreign office documents of the different

European countries involved in the crisis have not been re-

leased. There is, however, sufficient information in the

existing published government documents, the newspapers, the

memoir literature, and the parliamentary debates to account

for Britain's role during this critical moment of European

history.

It is the purpose of this study to trace the British

diplomatic negotiations during the Rhineland crisis. Be-

sides a narration of the more important diplomatic

proceedings, the statements of influential men and poli-

ticians will be recorded when such statements will be

helpful in creating a better understanding of the problem.

The editorial policy of the British newspapers will be dealt

with, for they seem to reflect public opinion at that thme

and undoubtedly helped to influence wavering politicians.

The initial reaction of the French Government to the

Rhineland occupation is treated quite extensively in the

first chapter because it is impossible to explain the success

of Britain's policy of non-intervention without knowing some-

thing of the chaos that existed in the French Government

during the early days of the crisis. This material should
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help to give a clearer picture of the Rhineland crisis of

1936 and the significant part that Great Britain played in

it.



Chapter I

THE NATIONAL GOVERNMENT AND BRITISH PACIFISM

In order to understand properly Great Britain's role

in the Rhineland crisis, it is necessary to know something

about the Government that was in office in 1936. It will

be the purpose of this chapter to give a brief sketch of

the Cabinet Ministers who played a;significant part in

the negotiations during the Rhineland crisis. Public

opinion in Great Britain will also be dealt with in some

detail, for it appears to have had a considerable influence

on the policy pursued by the British Government.

In March, 1936, the National Government was in office

with Stanley Baldwin as Prime Minister. Despite the fact

that the Government used the word "National," it had an over-

whelming majority of Conservatives in it, and only a handful

of National Liberals and National Laborites were included

among the Government's supporters. By far the most impor-

tant domestic concern of the Cabinet was the economic

depression which had plagued Great Britain throughout most

of the 'twenties and the 'thirties. An obvious effect of

this depression was the terrible unemployment, which included

over 2.1 million workers in 1936, or 13% of the total insured





15

working force.1 The task of how to reduce imports, increase

exports, and revitalize industry absorbed the interests of

the Cabinet.

The head of the National Government was Stanley Baldwin,

who held the office of Prime Minister for the fourth time

in his long public career. A good summation of Baldwin's

character is given by Paul Knaplund.

Neither as administrator nor as Prime

Minister and statesman can he [Baldwin]

be adjudged great, but to a remarkable

extent he won the affection and confidence

of British voters. To the English

especially, he embodied virtues which

they considered highly admirable. They

believed him to be honest and patriotic,

a man of character who could trusted

to keep cool in any emergency.

Baldwin's greatest weakness lay in his handling of foreign

affairs. George Young, in his unfavorable biography of

Baldwin, flatly states that foreign politics never really

did interest him.3 Young also relates the story of how

Baldwin would close his eyes anytime foreign affairs came

 

1Charles Loch Mowat, Britain Between the Wars 1213-1940

(Chicago, 1955), p. 433. Hereafter cited as Mowat, Britain.

2Paul Knaplund, Britain, Commonwealth, and Empire 1901-

1955 (London, 1956). p. 257.

3G. M. Young, Stanley Baldwin (London, 1952), p.61.

Hereafter cited as Young, Baldwin.
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under discussion at a Cabinet meeting, telling his colleagues

to wake him.up after they were finished.4 The almost in-

soluble problem facing Britain in the 'thirties of how to

reconcile Germany's desire for equality with France's need

for security would have taxed the genius of a Talleyrand;

to Baldwin it was overwhelming.

It is difficult to say exactly what part Baldwin did

play in the Rhineland crisis. His action, or more properly

his lack of action, during the crisis has often been criti—

cized. Even Baldwin's favorable biographer, his own son,

A. W. Baldwin, did not attempt to justify his action during

the crisis.5 It.may be assumed that A. W. Baldwin would

have defended his father's actions were he able to, but

complete silence on the Rhineland affair is the most he can

do for his father in the biography. Perhaps the most logical

explanation of Baldwin's role during the crisis was that put

forward by the Egg 19535 _'1_‘_1.I_n_e_§ during the time of the Rhineland

occupation. The correspondents of the New'York Timgg felt

that Baldwin was playing a purely negative role, 1. e. he was

 

4 .

Young, Baldwin, p. 63

5A. W. Baldwin, My Father: The True Story (LOndon, 1955)

Hereafter cited as A. W. Baldwin, My Father.
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restraining his Foreign Secretary and other Cabinet members

who wanted to take a firm stand against Germany's violation

of the Locarno Pact. Baldwin undoubtedly thought his de—

sire to keep the peace accurately reflected the wishes of

the British people, and in this he was probably correct.

But in order to keep peace in 1936, he allowed Nazi Germany

to remilitarize the Rhineland--an act probably equal in

responsibility to Neville Chamberlain's action at Munich

two years later.

The crucial portfolio of Secretary of State for

Foreign Affairs was held in Baldwin's Cabinet by Anthony

Eden. Although Eden had held this position less than three

months when the crisis broke out, he was by no means in-

experienced in foreign affairs. Despite his comparative

youth (38 years), Eden had been a Member of Parliament for

thirteen years and had spent most of that time in the servicee

of the Foreign Office. His most important position prior to

his appointment as Foreign Secretary was that of Britain's

Minister for League of Nations Affairs, a highly responsible

office. Having worked with the League for many years, Eden

seems to have acquired a real attachment for that inter-

national body, although it is evident from his speeches that
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he was well aware of the limitations of the League.6 In

regard to France, Eden believed Anglo-French relations were

literally a matter of life and death, and his pleas to his

fellow-countrymen for friendship with France had a deep ring

of sincerity in them.7 Eden's attitude towards Germany at

this time is more difficult to ascertain. He was too good

a statesman not to realize the potential danger that a re-

militarized Germany presented, but at the same time he could

not be considered as an outspoken critic of Nazi Germany in

1936.

It appears that Eden was at times confronted by ob-

structionists when he attempted to carry out a policy of his

own making. These obstructionists were either Cabinet min-

isters or his superiors whose only fear was a fear of

British commitments and who could hardly be counted on to

give him any really loyal cooperation.8 Both the Ngngggk

Times and the Times of London reported consistently throughout

 

6For a sample of Eden's statements concerning the

limitations of the League, see Johnson, Eden, pp. 104-105,

130-131.

7Johnson, Eden, pp. 160-161.

8Frederick L. Schuman, Europe 93 the Eve (New'York, 1942)
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the crisis that Eden wanted to take a firm stand against

Germany but was being thwarted by Baldwin and other Cabinet

ministers.

The position of Lord Privy Seal was held in Baldwin's

Cabinet by Lord Halifax. Halifax was a seasoned statesman,

having been in British politics and government service

since 1910. His most distinguished post was governor-general

of India from 1925 to 1931. Like Baldwin and Eden, he was

not an avowed critic of the Nazi regime. In fact, some of

his personal friends were noted German sympathizers, such

as Lord Londonderry, Lord Lothian, and Geoffrey Dawson.9

At the time of the Rhineland crisis, Lord Halifax

was considered by the authoritative newspapers to be one of

those Cabinet members who were restraining the more impet-

uous Eden. Although Halifax attended many of the crucial

Locarno meetings held during the crisis, he completely

omitted in his recently published memoirs, Fullness of gays,

any reference to the position he adopted at these meetings.

One is left to suspect that perhaps Halifax is not too

proud of the views he held at the time of the reoccupation.

 

9Alan Campbell Johnson, Viscount Halifax (New York, 1941)

p. 394.
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The Chancellor of the Exchequer was Neville Chamberlain,

a title which he had held in three different Cabinets.

Charles L. Mowat sums.up nicely in one sentence the best of

Chamberlain's qualities: “In the day of the lesser men he

was outstanding, with his clear, civil-service mind, high

, principles, narrow, but progressive views, great energyand

self-confidence.”1° Chamberlain's name is almost immediately

associated with the word "appeasement" in all its worst con-

notations. Because he favored appeasing Nazi Germany, this

does not mean he was not aware of the Nazi menace to Europe.

0n the contrary, Keith Feiling in his biography of Neville

Chamberlain, produces a number of memoranda and extracts

from Chamberlain's diary which show him to have no illusions

about the Nazis.11 In the autumn of 1934 Chamberlain drafted

the following memorandum for a Cabinet meeting:

The gg£§,gt,9£igg of all our European

troubles and anxieties is Germany. If

that fact can be constantly present to

the consciousness of our negotiators,

they will not be too stiff with France,

or too insistent upon her discarding

weapons which shfzmay think essential

for her safety."

 

1QMowat, Britain, p. 414.

11Keith Failing, Thg Life 9; Neville Chamberlain (London,

1946), pp. 253-259. Hereafter cited Feiling, Chambeglain

12 Feiling, Chamberlain, p. 254
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In the 'thirties Neville Chamberlain held that Germany had

to be appeased in order to keep the peace. He felt that

eventually German ambitions would be satiated, her demands

would be fulfilled, and ”peace in our time" would be a

reality. It may be said in partial justification of

Chamberlain that he was by no means alone in this view;

The important portfolios in the National Government,

then, were held by men who were highly experienced and fairly

competent in their own special fields. The lesser Cabinet

positions were likewise filled by qualified men. What was

obviously lacking in Baldwin's Cabinet were statesmen who

were aware of the danger that a rapidly rearming Germany pre-

sented. Unfortunately, there were few statesmen in Britain

prior to 1936 who really saw the Nazi peril: men like

Winston Churchill and sn- Austen Chamberlain did, but they

held no key positions in the Government. The Secretary of

State for War, A. Duff Cooper, was the sole anti-German to

- hold an important portfolio in the National Government. The

entire composition of the Cabinet was not conducive to dip-

lomatic success if confronted by a gaig‘ggggmpli from Adolph

Hitler.

Perhaps the real fault of the National Government in

1936 was that it too accurately reflected the will of the
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the British nation. The people passionately desired peace

and Baldwin's Government intended to give them that. Great

Britain, like many of the other ”satisfied powers,” fell

into a national feeling of pessimism and dissillusionment

following the First World War. There were but few families

on that island who had not experienced either a death or a

casualty as a result of the fighting. The hideousness and

brutality of war were kept before the public in books like

_*——_—  

92 the Western Front, and Ernest Hemingway's Farewell £2_Arms.
 

A group of men called the "war poets" also made an impression

upon the public during the 'twenties. The poems of Siegfried

Sassoon, Edmund Blunden, Herbert Read, and the posthumous

collections of Wilfred Owen and Isaac Rosenberg, told of the

horrors of war and the absolute senselessness of it. Even as

late as 1935, Baldwin said in an address to the Peace Society:

"We live under the shadow of the last war and its memories

still sicken us. We remember that war is, with no glory in

it but the heroism of man."13

What frightened many people was that a new war could

only be worse. The ghastly addition of the airplane to the

 

13Young, Baldwin, p. 214.
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methods of destruction now meant that war would come to all,

non-combatant as well as the soldier. Some writers and pol-

iticians did not hesitate to paint terrifying pictures of

bombs and gas that would rain down on Britain's populatiOn

centers. Churchill referred to London in the House of

Commons as "the greatest target in the world."14 And no

matter how ingenious the defense, Baldwin ominously warned

the people that ”the bomber will always get through."15

There was also the fear, found mainly among the ruling

classes of the Conservative Party, that only communism could

benefit from another war. It was evident that Germany, Poland,

and Hungary had come dangerously close to permanently adopting

a communistic form of government after the First World War.

The conservatives saw in communism the enemy of all they held

dear: free enterprise, culture, religion, and privilege.

Peace had to be kept in order not to give Bolshevism any

chance to expand.

The economic depression also had its effect on the

pacifism of the country. A feeling bad pervaded the British

 

14Winston Churchill, Thg Gathering Storm (Boston, 1948),

p. 116. Hereafter cited as Churchill, Gathering Storm.

15Young, Baldwin, p. 174.
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mentality that peace was an absolute necessity in order to

recover from the world depression which had affected their

island longer than any other nation of Europe. Unlike the

present-day economic conception in the United States that an

armament program is necessary to maintain high employment, it

was believed in Britain during the 'thirties that large sums

spent on rearmaments hindered any real industrial recovery.

Some people pointed out with alarm that a rearmament program

would increase the already staggering size of the national

debt. the same debt which politicians and economists had

predicted would ruin England in 1763!

(This feeling of pacifism occasionally made itself felt

with great impact upon the political scene. Certainly, one

of the most impressive examples of British pacifism was the

by-election for East Fulham in October, 1933. The Conserva-

tives had won the seat in the previous election by 14,521

votes.16 In the 1933 election the Conservative candidate

ran on a platform of limited rearmament while his Labor

opponent accused him of preparing for war. The Labor candi-

date won by a majority of 4,840 votes, thus resulting in a

 

16Theaccount of the East Fulham election is taken

from Mowat, Britain, p. 422
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turnover of almost 20,000 votes. In the general election of

November, 1935, Baldwin himself ran on a platform of limited

rearmament. Despite the fact that the Conservatives began to

play down this aspect of their program towards the end of the

campaign, Baldwin still felt it necessary to tell the public:

"I give you my word that there will be no great armaments."17

The time when Britain would accept a bold rearmament program

and a more firm foreign policy was still in the future.

One of the most often cited examples of the pacifist

attitude in Great Britain during the 'thirties is the Peace

Ballot. The Peace Ballot was a voluntary plebiscite, spon-

sored by the League of Nations Union in 1934-35, to find out

the attitude of the public towards several important inter-

national issues. Five questions were listed on the Peace

Ballot.18

1. Should Great Britain remain a Member of the

League of Nations?

2. Are you in favor of an all-round reduction

of armaments by international agreement?

3. Are you in favor of an all-round abolition

of National military and naval aircraft by

international agreement?

 

17A. w. Baldwin, My_Father, p. 243.

18Dame Adelaide Livingstone, The Peace Ballot; the

Officigl History (London, 1935), pp. 9-10. Hereafter cited

Livingstone, Ballot.
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4. Should the manufacture and sale of armaments

for private profit be prohibited by inter-

national agreement?

5. Do you consider that, if a nation insists on

attacking another, the other nations should

combine to compel it to stop by:

(a) economic and non-military measures?

(b) if necessary, military measures?

The response was impressive, over 11 million ballots being

'cast.19- Overwhelming aproval was given to all of the ques-

tions except that regarding the use of military measures to

stop an aggressor. But even then over 6.5 million people

voted for this proposal, almost 58%.of the total vote.

Certain observations should be made concerning the Peace

Ballot. In the first place, any rational person will vote

in the affirmative on a plebiscite for peace. Thus the re-

sults of the Ballot were surprising to no one. Secondly, the

inclusion of Question 5 on the Ballot made it possible for

even those who were against pacifism to vote in the affirmative.

What is really significant about the Ballot is the large number

of people who participated in it. The turnout of the vote,

rather than the result, was the most startling feature of the

Peace Ballot.

 

19For statistics regarding the results of the Peace

Ballot, see Livingstone, Ballot, p. 34
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This pacifism in Great Britain also included some pro-

German sentbment. Even after Britain had four years to

observe the savageness of the Nazi regime, Germany still

commanded much respect from the British peoples. Many felt

that the Treaty of Versailles had been too harsh and had been

unfairly imposed upon Germany. There were also peOple like

Neville Chamberlain who felt that on the disarmament issue

Germany had a moral case.20 After all, had not the Allies

failed to disarm down to Germany's level as they had once

promised? To aid their cause the Nazis had tried to in-

fluence British public opinion for several years by means of

propaganda. Sir Robert Vansittart, Permanent Under-Secretary

for Foreign Affairs, wrote in August, 1934 of the "intensive

German propaganda to which this country is now being exposed ."3

Some characteristics of the New Germany appealed to the British.

Order had been restored, its economy had made rapid strides,

 

20Feiling, Chamberlain, p. 249.

21Lord Vansittart, Lesson 9; My Life (New York, 1943),

p. xii. However, Arnold Toynbee, the English historian, and

Geyr von Schweppenburg, the German Military Attache in London

in 1936, are of the opinion that the propaganda was a failure

in regard to the methods and materials used. Arnold Toynbee,

Survgy g; International Affairs: 1936 (London, 1937). PP. 342-

344: and General Baron Geyr von Schweppenburg, Thg_Critical

XSEEQ (London, 1952), pp. 35-36. Hereafter cited respectively

as Toynbee, Survey, and Schweppenburg, Critical Years.
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and the Nazi creed was dedicated to the extermination of

Bolshevism. The businessmen of Britain could not help but

notice that the trade unions in Germany had been "put in their

place."

Some of Britain's leading political figures were

German sympathizers. Lord Londonderry, former Air-Minister

in 1931-1935, was one of the most famous. As late as 1938

Lord Londonderry felt that the "treatment of Germany since

the Great War deserves the severest criticism and is respon-

sible to a very large extent for the present unhappy inter-

national situation."22 Lord Lothian, who was to become

Britain's ambassador to the United States in 1939—1940, and

Geoffrey Dawson, editor of the Igmgg, were also admirers of

Germany. ”A great gentleman" was what Lord Rothermere, owner

of the Qgily Mail, called Hitler in 1938, adding, "There is no

man living whose promise given in regard to something of real

moment I would sooner take."23 Lloyd George was another ad-

mirer of Nazi Germany, particularly of its great public works

 

22Marquess of Londonderry, Ourselves and Germany,

(London, 1938). P. 14.

23A. W Baldwin, My Father, pp. 293-294.
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projects.24 This marked sympathy for German claims, along

with the economic depression and the pacifist attitude, had

to be taken into consideration by Baldwin's Cabinet when

negotiating with Germany after the reoccupation of the

Rhineland.

 

24Frank Owen, Tempestuoug Journey: Lloyd George, His

Life ggg_Times (New York, 1955), pp. 733-734.



Chapter II

A TENSE WEEKEND

On March 6th, Mr. Anthony Eden, British Secretary of

State for Foreign Affairs, asked the German Ambassador to

see him at the Foreign Office. The Ambassador at that time

was Leopold von Hoesch. A member of the ”old school" of

German diplomacy, Hoesch was not a forceful personality but

he did have great ability and a sound knowledge of Western

Europe.1 His skillful legal mind had not made him very pop-

ular with the less adroit Stanley Baldwin, the British Prime

Minister.2 Eden and Hoesch discussed the possibility of an

air pact, a subject of particular interest to British dip-

lomats since the advent of the airplane.3 As Hoesch

prepared to leave, he remarked that a special messenger was

on his way to London with an important declaration from the

German Chancellor. He asked Eden for an interview on the

following day so he could deliver it.

 

1Schweppenburg, Critical Years, pp. 58, 98.

2Schweppenburg, Critical Years, p. 58.

3British Cmd. 5143, Corre§pondence Showwing the Course

g£_C§£tain Diplomatic Discussions Directed Towards Securing

§g_Eugopgan Settlement, June 1934 §g_March 1936 (London, 1936),

No. 57, Eden to Phipps, March 6, 1936. Hereafter cited as

Cmd. 5143.



31

Meanwhile, in Berlin, the representatives of the

Locarno Powers were requested to appear at the Wilhelmstrasse

on the following day. When they assembled on the morning of

March 7th, Baron von Neurath, the German Foreign Minister,

handed each one of them a Memorandum denouncing the Treaty

of Locarno. At that very moment, said Neurath, forces ”sym-

bolic in character" were entering the Rhineland.4 The

amazed and stunned diplomats had already been invited to

hear Hitler's speech to the Reichstag, but they declined to

attend except for the Italian Ambassador, as a protest against

this breach of treaty.5

At 12 o'clock noon Hitler addressed the German

Reichstag. In a long and rambling speech he first traced

the sad condition of international affairs since the Treaty

of Versailles. After making several references to the

Bolshevik menace, he turned to a discussion of the Locarno

Pact and the reasons why Germany had denounced it. Finally,

Hitler called upon the members of the Reichstag to take two

solemn oaths. He asked them not to yield before any power

 

4Andre’ Francois—Poncet, The Fateful Years, trans. Jacques

LeClercq (Hew'York, 1949). p. 192. Hereafter cited as

Francois-Poncet, Fateful Years.

5The Times (of London), March 9, 1936, p. 14.
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or coercion in their determination to restore German honor.

This was undoubtedly a propaganda maneuver to warn the

Locarno Powers that any joint action by them would be vig-

orously resisted. This bold oath may, however, be contrasted

with the timidity of Hitler's generals concerning the

Rhineland operation and its chances of success. The Reich-

stag members also swore to further mutual understanding with

the other nations of Europe. At the end of his speech Hitler

dissolved the Reichstag in order to give the German people

the opportunity to express their approval of his three year

6 Thus, Hitler had backed up his actionforeign policy.

with illusory promises and threats. How would the Locarno

Powers respond to them?

That same morning, Hoesch called on Eden at the

Foreign Office at eleven o'clock. He told the Foreign

Secretary that he had a communication of great importance,

but he was afraid the first part would not be to his liking.7

The German Memorandum was rather long and one may imagine the

tension and cold atmosphere that developed as the methodical

 

6The Speeches 9; Adolpf Hitler, ed. Norman Baynes

(London, 1942), II, 1271-1302. Hereafter cited as Baynes,

Speeches.

7Cmd. 5143, No. 58, Eden to Phipps, March 7, 1936.
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Hoesch patiently read the entire document.

The Memorandum stated that Germany no longer felt

bound by the Locarno Treaty because the Franco-Soviet Pact

had, in effect, negated it.8 By signing the Franco-Soviet

Pact, France had destroyed the spirit and meaning of Locarno

since the political undertone of the Pact was clearly dir-

ected against Germany.9 This "new situation" had been

rendered even more acute by the parallel alliance of

Czechoslovakia and the Soviet Union. In order not to neg-

lect its own security, the German Government had restored

"full and unrestricted sovereignty" over the Rhineland.

Hitler's refusal to refer his case to the World Court shows

how little he really believed in the legality of the German

move.

The Memorandum stated further that, in order to show

the purely defensive character of the Rhineland operation,

Germany offered the following peace plan. The Reich would

 

8British Cmd. 5118, German Memorandum Respecting the

Termination of the Treaty of Locarno (London, 1936).
 

 

9The Franco-Soviet Treaty was a defensive mutual

assistance Pact. It was signed on May 2. 1935 and ratified

by the Chamber of Deputies by 353 to 164 on February 27, 1936.

During the debate on the Treaty, several French deputies who

Opposed it pointed out that if the pact were ratified, Hitler

might retaliate by remilitarizing the Rhineland. Reynaud,

Thick 9; Fight, p. 123.
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negotiate a demilitarized zone with Belgium and France, but

only on the basis of reciprocity. Hitler was quite safe in

making this proposal, for the huge and immovable concrete

Maginot fortifications gave mute testimony to the absurdity

of a demilitarized zone on the French side of the frontier.

Germany was also willing to conclude twenty-five year non-

aggression pacts with France and Belgium; Great Britain and

Italy were to act as guarantors. The offer of non-aggression

pacts also extended to the Netherlands, Lithuania, and

Germany's eastern neighbors. Germany expressed her willing-

ness to conclude an air pact with the Western Powers, and

one of the most startling proposals was the offer to return

to the League of Nations. Finally, the Memorandum stated

that Germany expected the question of her colonial rights

and the separation of the League Covenant from its Versailles

setting would be discussed.

When the Ambassador finished, Eden said he could not

make any immediate detailed observations until he had con-

sulted with his colleagues. However, he "deeply regretted"

the German action and felt that its effect upon the British pub-

lic opinion would "inevitably be deplorable." He was aware of

the German view of the Franco-Soviet Pact, but this view'was

not shared by the other Locarno Powers. Is to the Peace
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proposals, Eden felt they would have to be considered carefully,

especially the proposals concerning Germany's return to the

League. Hoesch remarked that this had been inserted ex-

pressly to meet the desires of the British.10

As soon as Hoesch left, Eden immediately summoned the

French and Italian Ambassadors and the Belgian Charge

d'Agfgiges to the Foreign Office. He spoke to each of them

separately, the most important conversation being with the

French Ambassador, Charles Corbin.11 The Foreign Secretary

told Corbin he could not express any opinion before seeing

the Prime Minister. Nevertheless, Eden asked Corbin to pass

on two "observations" to Pierre Flandin, the French Foreign

Minister: he considered the German action "deplorable" and

affirmed that a violation of Locarno had taken place; and

secondly, he desired "that any action tending to make the

future irremediable" should not be taken until the Locarno

Governments, and especially Britain and France, could enter

into consultation. Eden said he did not, however, wish to

 

1°Cnd. 5143, No. 58, Eden to Phipps, March 7, 1936.

1

ngginages g§_rouments Recueillis par ;§_Commission D'Enggete

Parlementaire VParis, 1951), III, 590, Corbin to Flandin,

March 7, 1936. Hereafter cited as Les Evenements.
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prevent the French Government from taking the necessary se-

curity measures. Eden further told Corbin he assumed that

Flandin would wish to call a meeting of the League as soon

as possible. By this statement Eden showed he did not con-

sider a "flagrant violation“ of Locarno had taken place, for

if Germany were guilty of a "flagrant violation," the terms

of the Locarno Pact would entitle France to take immediate

action without any prior pronouncement of violation by the

League. Corbin, for his part, tried to stress the importance

of the British press taking a correct view of the situ-

ation.12

After speaking to all of the Locarno representatives

Eden left for Chequers. There he conferred with Stanley

Baldwin, the Prime Minister, and did not return to the

Foreign Office until later in the evening.

The initial negotiations between Great Britain and

Italy during the Rhineland crisis were not very promising.

It must be remembered that sanctions, which Great Britain

had imposed upon Italy because of her aggression in

lbyssinia, had already strained the relations between the

 

12MW9_f_ the United States; 1936

flashington, 1953), I, no. 115, p. 241, Atherton to Hull,

March 13, 1936. Hereafter cited as FRUS.
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two countries. On March 7th, the day the Germans announced

the reoccupation of the Rhineland, the British Ambassador

in Rome, Sir Eric Drummond, called on Fulvio Suvich, the

Italian Under-Secretary of State, and protested on behalf

of his Government the Italian bombing of a British Red Cross

Unit in Abyssinia on March 3rd. Suvich promised an inquiry

would be made and instructions would be sent to Abyssinia

to prevent a recurrence.13 This conversation merely helped

to aggravate the already tense situation existing between

the two Locarno guarantors.

Whatever else was said at this March 7th meeting,

.particularly in regard to the Rhineland, is not known. It‘

seems likely Suvich told Drummond what he intimated to Long,

the American Ambassador. In a conversation with the latter,

Suvich said Italy accepted the German angument concerning

the Franco-Soviet Pact, and did not consider Germany's

action a flagrant violation of Locarno which would, according

to the stipulations of the Locarno Treaty, oblige Italy to

intervene in her capacity as a guarantor. Suvich believed

that the Western Powers should consider Hitler's Peace Plan,

 

133; Times, March 9, 1936, p. 16. Actually, there

were three bombing incidents that week, on the 3rd, 4th, and

5th of March. Why Drummond protested only against the

March 3rd bombing, The Times did not state.
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and he also told the AmeriCan Ambassador that under the pre-

sent circumstances, 1. e. sanctions, Italy would not ally

herself with Britain and France in opposition to Germany.14

This conversation makes it appear as though Italy

hoped to use the Rhineland crisis to bring pressure on

Britain and France to lift the sanctions against Italy. A

story about Italian diplomatic activity in Paris on the

following day, March 8th, throws some light on this point.

“Informed persons" heard that Cerruti, the Italian Ambass-

ador in Paris, approached Flandin with the following

proposal: Mussolini was willing to support France against

Hitler if the League would not embark on any new sanctions,

particularly oil, and would soften the administrative inter-

15 The truth of the abovepretation of the existing ones.

conversation cannot be established as yet, but it is safe

to assume that Italy tried to turn the Rhineland crisis to

her own advantage.

In juris, Prime Minister Albert Sarraut called two

Cabinet'meetings on March 7th. An account of what happened

14
FRUS, I. No. 76, p. 210, Long to Hull, March 7, 1936.

15The New York Times, March 9, 1936, p. l. Hereafter

Cited as N. Y. Times.

 



7

..a:

r(r...

new

US”U

(
t
i

E
.
"

(
2
"

~.I...

run.

I4*!se-

v011.,"e

I’mu...

UthJr.



39

during these meetings is given by General Gamelin, who was

the Commander-in-Chief of the French Army in 1936.16 The

first meeting was held in the morning at the Ministry of

Interior, and the only real decision made was to take pre-

cautionary military measures: the recall of troops on

leave, deployment of covering troops, and alerting of rail-

ways along the frontier. Another meeting took place at six

o'clock in the evening in Flandin's room with members of

the armed services, as well as the Government, present.

There was some theoretical discussion, but no actual pro-

gress was made towards taking any definite decisions. After

the meeting, Flandin issued a communique to the press in
 

which he announced France's decision to refer the matter to

the League of Nations. This decision was said to have been

received in London with "profound relief."17

By going to the League, France implied she would not

take any action until a pronouncement had been made by that

international body, a disastrous decision since immediate

action was necessary to drive the German troops out of the

 

16Gamelin, «Serxir, 11, 201-202. Found in Reynaud,

Thick 9; Fight, pp. 126-127.

17Toynbee, Survey, p. 272.





4O

Rhineland. France failed to demonstrate any ability to lead

the other Locarno Powers. If the nation which suffered the

greatest danger from a remilitarized Rhineland refused to

take action, what.cou1d be expected of those not directly

affected?

Perhaps the most crucial day during the entire crisis

was Sunday, March 8th. The initial shock from the reocu-

pation had worn off, and joint military action by the Locarno

Governments was still a very definite possibility, Diplo-

matic activity in London was intense. Eden had a number of

meetings with the Locarno representatives, German diplomats,

Foreign Office officials, and Government ministers. In the

morning the British Foreign Secretary had separate con-

versations with the French, Italian, and Belgian representatives

during which he again stressed the necessity of keeping the

greatest calm and of withholding any decision until the

chief representatives of the Locarno Powers could deliberate

beforehand.18

In Paris, the British Ambassador, Sir George Clerk,

called on Flandin in the morning and again the afternoon.

During the afternoon meeting Clerk remarked that the German

18ngEvenements, III, 590, Corbin to Flandin, March 8,

1936.
-
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Peace Plan had “favorable elements” such as Germany's return

to the League and the non-aggression pacts. This gave

Flandin the impression that Great Britain did not under-

stand the gravity of the situation. Flandin emphatically

told Sir George that he could not accept any discussion of

the Peace Plan since it would mean the abandonment of the

demilitarized zone in the Rhineland.19

After his conversation with the British Ambassador,

Flandin sent a telegram to Corbin in London in which he

instructed Corbin to point out to the British the deceitful-

ness and lawlessness of the German Government's past actions.

The forces in the Rhineland were not very symbolic; in fact,

according to French sources, the German troops in the

Rhineland--excluding para-military formations-~were nearly

double the number announced by the German Minister of War.20

 

19Le§ Evenements, III, 590-591, Flandin to Corbin,

March 8, 1936.

20A source of much speculation during the Rhineland cri-

sis was the actual strength of the German occupying units.

Estimates ran from 19,000 troops to as high as 90,000. The

German Government announced the occupying force was composed

of 19 battalions of infantry, 13 detachments of artillery, 2

flights of pursuit aircraft, and 2 anti-aircraft units. This

announcement was probably true and thus would place the num-

ber of regular army troops between 25,000 and 30,000. The W,

March 9, 1936, p. 14, and N. Y. Times, March 8, 1936, p. 31.
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Flandin further instructed Corbin to point out the necessity

and importance of holding a Locarno meeting on Monday.21

When Corbin saw Eden again on Sunday night the latter

showed himself reluctant to attend a Monday Locarno meeting.

The Foreign Secretary pointed out that he would have to

address the House of Commons on Monday afternoon and would

not be able to leave for Paris before five o'clock or even

later. Eden did not conceal the fact that he feared British

public opinion would not approve of a Locarno meeting held

prior to a meeting of the League. He suggested the League

Council be summoned to meet on Thursday and that the Locarno

conferences could take place at Geneva before a meeting of

the Council. However, Eden did not prove adamant on this

point, and Corbin cabled back to Paris that he did not

believe Eden would oppose a Tuesday meeting.22

Later that night Eden finally gave his consent to a

 

At the Nuremberg Trials General Jodl testified that only

three battalions went into territory west of the Rhine

river, one each to Aachen, Trier, and Saarbrucken. Trial

9£_the Major War Criminals Before the International

Military Tribunal (Nuremberg, 19H87, XV, 352. Hereafter

cited as EMT.

21Les Evenements, III, 590-591, Flandin to Corbin,

March 8, l936.

22 - .

Les Evenements, III, 591, Corbin to Flandin,

March 8, lgjé.
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Tuesday morning Locarno conference in Paris and suggested

that the proposed Tuesday meeting of the Commmitee of l3--a

League committee set up to deal with sanctions against Italy--

be postponed to a later date. Eden wanted it understood that

the Locarno Powers could not give their immediate consent to

concrete proposals on Tuesday. The question was one of

exceptional gravity and deserved to be examined with the

necessary patience. The Foreign Secretary said he hoped this

meeting would constitute only the first of a series of talks;

others could follow while waiting for the deliberation of the

League Council, "the only body qualified to take any decision."23

Thus another day passed and still no decisive action was taken

on the part of the British Government.

Because of British vacillation, Flandin approached the

American Ambassador on Sunday afternoon with the request that,

' as a personal favor. he call the present situation to the

attention of President Roosevelt.24 Flandin hoped that either

Roosevelt or his Secretary of State, Cordell Hull, would

23Les Evenements, III, 591-592, Corbin to Flandin,

March 8, 1936.

24§§g§, I, No. 175. pp. 216-217, Straus to Hull,

March 8. 1936.
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issue a statement condemning on moral grounds any unilateral

repudiation of a treaty. It was Flandin's belief that such

a statement would command attention and have some effect in

Britain. On March 10th, the American Secretary of State

wired back saying the United States could not appropriately

take any comment at the present’time.25

During the tense weekend, the French Government showed

that they were just as adept as the British in evading any

fbrceful action. Paul Reynaud, French statesman and a mem-

ber of the Chamber of Deputies in 1936, believed that

Emblic opinion was not in favor of intervention.26 Oppo-

sition to action also came from a large segment of the right-

wing press.27

Despite this pressure from the Public, the French Govern-

-ment'had no excuse for not adopting a firmer-stand, since the

allies of France showed that they were willing to stand by

their commitments. Poland promised to carry out the pledges

25352;, I, No. 70, p. 228, Hull to Straus, March 10, 1936.

25Reynaud. Thigh 2; Eight. p. 127.

27For an‘excellent study of the reaction of the right-wing

press to the German reoccupation of the Rhineland, see Charles

. Antoine Micaud, The French Right and Nazi.Germany_l233-l939

(Durham. 1943). chapter 6. pp. 85-106.
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which bound her to France.28 Czechoslovakia also gave her

intention to aid France in any undertaking the latter thought

necessary.29 In addition to these allies, France had a formid-

able army equipped with relatively modern weapons. The

Government, however, failed to make use of this favorable

position.

Another French cabinet meeting was held at ten o'clock

<M1March 8th with procrastination, shifting of responsibility,

and lack of. leadership marring the proceedings. In the words

cm’Flandin, there was "lamentable confusion."30 But Flandin

lumself was not free from guilt for he merely outlined all

the possible lines of action France could take without recom-

mending any particular one.“ The decision was left entirely

up to the Cabinet and, in general, the politicians seemed to

28Josef Beck, ggnal Repogg (New York, 1957), p. 110.

29Eduard BenEs, Memoirs, II, 218. Found in Reynaud,

Thick 9; Fight, p. 125.

30F1andin, Politique Franggise, pp. 198-200. Found in

Reynaud, Thick of Fight, p. 128.

31Reynaud produces evidence. from various French memoirs

‘much show Flandin to be lacking in leadership during the

Cabinet meeting. Although French memoirs concerning the inter-

war period are often biased, the unanimity on Flandin's action

seems to lend credence to this story. Reynaud, Thidk 9; Fight,

pp. 129-130.
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favor action while the military were against it.32 Flandin's

statement that Belgium and Britain would cooperate in diplo-

matic but not military action undoubtedly influenced some of_

the ministers and generals.33 The course of action finally

agreed upon was essentially the same as that of the previous

day, namely, to refer the problem to the League and take

half-hearted measures to bolster the French frontier de-l

fenses.34 Thus the overwhelming power of the French army

was held back by wavering politicians and tepid military

leaders.

It might be appropriate at this point to make some

(mitical comments concerning the initial Anglo—French

negotiations. The early telegrams between Corbin and Flandin

Show no evidence that France demanded or even asked the

British for military assistance. For the most part, the

telegrams are concerned with preparations for a Locarno

Conference. The French cabinet meetings reveal dissension

32Francois-Poncet, Fateful Years, p. 195. Winston

Churchill, evidently after examining the French memoir

material, has also come to the conclusion that the French

military opposed action: see Churchill, Gathering Storm, p. 94.

33Jean Zay, Souvenirs g£_S§litude, pp. 65-67. Found

in Reynaud, Thick 9; Fight, p. l 0. 7

34The Times, March 9, 1936, p. 14.
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and absence of leadership and Flandin's lack of forcefulness

among his colleagues makes it seem likely that he was not

very forceful in the diplomatic channels either.35

One of the crucial factors in the problem of trying to

place responsibility is whether the initial attitude of the

British discouraged the French from asking military assis-

tance or at least diplomatic support. It might well be

that the French did not ask for aid since it was obvious the

British would not grant it. The feeble decisions of the

French cabinet can be partially attributed to the reserved

attitude of the British government, but this does not entirely

exonerate the French from responsibility. Had they shown

detenmination and acted, the British would have had no

Choice but to support them. Paul Reynaud believes that:

"If, having acted, France had found herself, by trying to do

the impossible, in danger, Britain was bound to intervene,

Whether she liked it or not."36 The logical reason, therefore,

for the acquiescence to the Rhineland occupation by the Locarno

35R. A. C. Parker, "The First Capitulation: France and

the Rhineland Crisis of 1936" WOrld Pglgtics, VIII (1956),

355-373. This scholarly article, based upon French memoirs

and documents, is highly critical of French ineptitude during

the early days of the crisis.

36Reynaud, Thick 9; Fight, p. 133.
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Powers seems to lie in French vacillation and British

reluctance to act. Both causes complement each other and it

would be futile to try to lay the blame upon any one country.

The role Belgium played in the initial negotiations was

marked by restraint. There appeared to be a genuine fear

that perhaps the Germans were about to violate her territory

again.37 Belgian policy over the weekend closely followed the

French in that she too appealed to the League and took pre-

cautionary military measures along her frontier.38 Thus

another Locarno Power--the one whose frontier was propor-

tionately more affected by the seizure than France--

demonstrated her inability to act or to encourage French

unilateral action.

Monday appears to have been a calmer day in that fewer

important decisions and meetingshad to be attended to. The

British Cabinet held its first meeting since the reoccupation

0f the Rhineland on Monday morning. It had not met on Sunday,

fearing that such an extraordinary event as a Sunday Cabinet

meeting might alarm the people. Most of the time was occupied

with an examination of Eden's proposed statement to the HouSe

 

37

Toynbee, Survey, p. 272.

8

The Times, March 9, 1936, p. 9
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of Commons. One of the major points in Eden's text was that

Britain would not negotiate on Hitler's terms unless France

agreed to the terms beforehand. The cabinet felt this was

too harsh a tone to take against Germany and instead sub-

stituted the promise to aid Belgium and France, if these

countries were actually attacked, and also the promise to

study Hitler's peace proposals objectively.39 It was further

decided to send Lord Halifax to Paris with Eden. Since Lord

Halifax was known to be one of those British statesmen who

relieved that British policy was too subservient to French

policy, this move was interpreted to mean that Halifax would

act as a restraining influence on Eden.4O It was feared

that the inexperienced Foreign Secretary might succumb to

French arguments and make some commitments, and, in order to

Prevent this, Eden was carefully instructed not to undertake

39FRUS, I, No. 100, p. 229, Atherton to Hull, March 10,

1936.

40 ,

Thngimes, March 10, 1936, p. 16, and The New York

Times, March 10, 1936, p. 16. However, Lord Halifax claims

that his relations with Eden at various international con—

ferences were most congenial and that "there was never the

shadow of friction between us." Halifax flatly denies that

he was ever used as a tool by Baldwin to keep control over

the Foreign Secretary. Lord Halifax, Fullness 9; Days,

(NeW'York, 1957). pp. 184-185.
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any commitments of a binding character.41 After an hour and

a half of deliberation the Cabinet meeting broke up.

A divergence of opinion was evident at the first

Cabinet meeting, but it is difficult to pinpoint the attitude

of each minister towards France and the exact course of

action he favored. The individual attitudes may have fluc-

tuated even from day to day. It is reasonably certain,

however, that Eden wished to act more vigorously than Prime

Minister Baldwin would allow. Although it is not known

exactly how'the Cabinet was divided, the subsequent diplomatic

negotiations showed that those who were against action were

either in the majority or were the most powerful members.

Despite the adoption of a conciliatory policy by the

Cabinet, the professional German diplomats in London were

still uncertain about the British official position and con-

tinued to be for some time. Geyr von Schweppenburg, German

military attache, found Hoesch and Prince Bismark, the

Chargé'd'Affaires in an "obviously desperate state of mind."

When Schweppenburg called on the British War Office Monday

Morning he was cooly received, and Bernard Paget, Head of the

Western European Section of the War Office, clearly showed his

41FRUS, I, No. 102, p. 232, Atherton to Hull, March 11,
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exasperation at this latest breach of treaty. So alarmed was

the staff of the German Embassy over the state of international

affairs that the military attaches--with the knowledge of

Ikmsch-—sent a telegram to Berlin warning of the grave situ-

ation. The telegram stated that the chances of war were

aunut “fifty-fifty."42 After the tension had died down,

General Dill of the British War Office admitted that at the

time of the reoccupation, the chances of war were "very

serious indeed."43

On Monday afternoon Eden went to the House of Commons

where he gave his eagerly awaited speech. Every seat was

occupied and there was a full assembly of diplomats in the

gallery.44 The Foreign Minister began by giving an account

of the negotiations that had been undertaken so far.

He then turned to the all-important declaration of

POlicy. He said the denunciation of the Locarno Pact and

the occupation of the demilitarized zone had "profoundly

42Schweppenburg, Critical Years, pp. 58-59. Although

Schweppenburg does not give the exact date of the telegram, he

places the sending of it only a few days after the reoccupation

of the Rhineland;

43Schweppenburg, Critical Years, p. 65.

44The Times, March 10, 1936, p. 16.
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shaken confidence in any engagement into which the Govern-

ment of Germany may enter in the future." There was no

reason to believe that the German action would be followed by

hostilities. However, in order to clarify Britain's position

as a Locarno guarantor, Eden promised the aid of his Governe

ment to France or Belgium if they were actually attacked

"during the period which will be necessary for the consideration

of the new'situation which has arisen." In regard to the

Peace Proposals, the Foreign Secretary said they would be

examined "clear—sightedly and objectively" since the

British Government felt "that no opportunity must be missed

which offers any hope of amelioration."45 When he finished

the speech, the cheers showed that the whole House was be-

hind the Governmentfl6

In the debate on the Defense Bill which immediately

followed Eden's speech, no substantial opposition to Hitler

was displayed. The implication in Eden's statement that

Britain would play the role of the mediator as well as the

guarantor was stressed by Stanley Baldwin. "In Europe,"

said Baldwin, "we have no more desire than to keep calm, to

 

45Parliamentar EEEEEEE. 309 H. C. Deb 55., cols. 1811-

13. Hereafter cited Parl, Deb.

493.122 zines. March 10. 1936. p. 33.
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keep our heads, and to continue to try to bring France and

Germany together in a friendship with ourselves."47 Other

Members of Parliament urged that the peace proposals be con-

sidered. Sir Samuel Hoare, former Secretary of State for

Foreign Affairs, called upon the Government to take no

rash action and do their "utmost to effect a reconciliation

between the contending parties."48

The attitude assumed by the Government and the House

cm'Commons obviously represented British public opinion.

Arnold Toynbee, the British historian, wrote one year.after

the Rhineland crisis that "the feeling that Germany had not

had a fair deal was still widespread.” Toynbee also said:

While the British Government had committed

themselves to the view that the Franco-

Russian Pact and the Locarno Treaty were

legally compatible, many British observers

felt that Germany had good political grounds

for objecting to the pact....Even those who

expressed the strongest disapproval of the

German action drew a sharp distinction between

the kind of aggression of which Italy had been

guilty in Abyssinia and the entry of German

troops into a portion of German territory

without taking a single life or inflicting

any material damage upon another country. 9

47§g£l. ng,, 309 H. C. Deb. 55., col. 1841.

4832;; 2gp., 309 H. C. Deb. 55., col. 1867.

49

Tgygbee, Survey, pp. 276-277.
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"Augur", a famous correspondent, wrote for the Egg;zggkigggg§3

"For once German diplomacy has sized up public opinion in this

country [Britain] with amazing accuracy and Hitler's offer

is certain to receive a favorable reception in many circles."50

George Lansbury, noted British pacifist, undoubtedly spOke

for many other pacifists when he said: "No mobilization by

France or ourselves is needed except the mobilization of

common sense."51 Even the more belligerent organizations

in the country were against action. The Secretary of the

Trades Union Council, Sir Walter Citrine, claimed that al—

though trade unionism was for the collective system, it did

not commit itself to going to war because Hitler was using

his own territory as he saw'fit.52 A former member of the

London Egggg_editorial staff, A. L. Kennedy, believed that on

the whole, although not unanimously, British public opinion

sympathized with Hitler's reoccupation of the Rhine provinces.S3

M. Y. Times, March 8, 1936, p. 33.

N. Y. Times, March 8, 1936, p. 33.

N, Y. Times, March 9, 1936, p. 2.

53A. L. Kennedy, Britain Eagg5_9g;many (NeW’York, 1937).

pp. 134-135.
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Another reason why the British public so easily

accepted Hitler's coup was the feeling that nothing could be

done about it. Some people had an exaggerated idea of

actual German military power. Hugh Dalton, one of the more

prominent Laborites during the inter-war period, wrote in

his recently published memoirs that he over-estimated the

54 Duncanstriking power of the German Air Force in 1936.

Sandys, a Conservative M. P., issued a statement to the

press saying Britain had neither the right nor the power

to resist Germany.55 Sir Walter Citrine believed that

Hitler was too powerful for Britain to do anything to him.56

Ironically enough, it was one of Hitler's most bitter foes

who was partially responsible for his Rhineland success.

In constantly warning the British nation of the growing

might of German power, Winston Churchill actually gave

support to those who believed that Germany was too powerful

to stop.

The reaction of the British press, like that of the

 

54Hugh Dalton, The Fateful Years: Memoirs 1931-1945

(London, 1957), p. 88.

55M. Y. Times, March 8, 1936, p. 30.

56m. limes. March 9, 1936, p. 2.
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public, was favorable to Germany. The Sunday newspapers, on

the whole, gave reluctant support to the Rhineland occupa-

tion and some even warmly commended the German move. Viscount

Rothermere's right-wing Sunday Dispatch said the Locarno

Treaty "goes unhonored and unsung, into the tomb of past

political errors." Germany was right in asserting her sov-

ereignty, claimed the Sunday Observer, since there could "be

no peace without elementary justice and common sense.“ The

Liberal §gg£_wanted Hitler's proposals tested by the Locarno

Powers to see if they could be adopted or adapted. A Sunday

Laborite paper, The People, said the situation was "not a

crisis but an opportunity." Both the Sunday Chronggle and

the Sunday Pictorial believed Germany had been handicapped

by the existing treaties. Beaverbrook's Sunday Expgess

pointed out the latest German move was a hostile act, but

the Evening Standard, another Beaverbrook paper, was of the

opinion that although this act constituted a threat to

security, the crowded events might yield a clearer prospect

S7 7
for European peace.

The editorials that appeared in the British newspapers

 

57 Excerpts from the British Sunday Newspapers are

found in N. Y. Times, March 8, 1936, p. 33.
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on Monday were also illuminating.58 Papers ranging from

extreme right to extreme left felt that the recent German

action was no cause for war. The Morning Post, an ultra-

Conservative paper, said that thrusting Germany out of the

Rhineland was not possible even if it were reasonable.

Rothermere's Qggly_Mg;; believed the reoccupation should be

faced calmly since it had caused no crisis. Beaverbrook's

2g;ly_Express assured its readers there was no need to worry

since the reoccupation would certainly not involve Britain in

a war. The other Beaverbrook paper, the Evening Standard,

pointed out that the Locarno Pact had beeur"1ightly under-

taken" by Britain and was "a constant menace to her hope of

peace and prosperity.“ The Qggiy Telegraph, considered a

semi-official organ of the British Foreign Office, said quite

candidly that Hitler had denounced the Locarno Pact because

it.was inconvenient to his plans, and that Hitler's Peace

Imoposals “must be read in the light of his apparently sudden

resolution."

Two influential Liberal newspapers took a more cautious

line. The Star called upon Germany to give Europe a

 

58 Excerpts from the British editorials which appeared

in the Monday newspapers are found in The Times, March 10, 1936,

p. 18.
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reassurance of her peaceful intentions in deeds as well as

words. At the same time, it demanded that Hitler's offer

should not be rejected out of hand. The Manchester Guardggg

suggested that Germany withdraw her troops from the Rhineland

in order to reestablish her reputation for good faith in

international affairs.

The Laborite Qggly Herald said Britain had the choice

of either negotiating a new settlement or beginning a new war.

And it added: "Surely the problem has only to be stated for

the decision to be obvious."

The respected Tiggg carried an editorial entitled "A

Chance to Rebuild." Although the editorial admitted that a

violation of the Locarno Pact had taken place, it took pains

to point out Germany had occupied territory which was un-

cheputedly under her sovereignty. The nggg said that the

Peace Proposals of Hitler could not be ruled out despite the

fact that they had gaps and obscurities. The article ended

huth the words: lfThe old structure of European peace, one-

suded and unbalanced, is nearly in ruins. It is not the

59
moment to despair, but to rebuild."

Many of the important sectional and local newspapers

 

59The Times, March 9, 1936, p. 15.
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followed the same pattern. Some papers which either condoned

the Rhineland occupation or demanded the Peace Proposals be

studied were the: Liverpool Post, Birmingham Post‘_Yorksh;£g

Eggg, Sheffield Telegraph, Sussex Daily News, §g££h_Mg;;, Egg-

Eggg Morning News, Daily Dispatch, Western Daily Express,

NOttingham Guardian, and the Scotsman. Among the local papers,

only the §;g§gow Heraig exhibited a strong suspicion of the

German Government's move and a distrust of its Peace Pro-

posals.60

The fact that not one paper called for the forcible.

expulsion of German troops from the Rhineland is indeed

significant. It is also interesting to note that the papers,

regardless of party affiliation or locale, were unanimous in

their desire to prevent an international conflagration.

Whether the newspapers led public opinion during this crisis

or whether they were merely an accurate reflection is not

really important. It is enough to observe that the Govern-

ment, the House of Commons, the public, and the press were

unanimous in their rejection of war as a reply to Hitler's

latest.move.

 

5° 211; Meg, March 10, 1936, p. 18
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Chapter III

THE LOCARNO POWERS TAKE ACTION

Unable to develop any common line of action over the

weekend, the Locarno Powers-~with the exception of Germany--

entered into a series of conferences in the hope that some

decision, acceptable to all, could be arrived at. Meetings

were held from March 10th to March 19th, often twice a day

and sometimes extending into the night, and culminated in a

”text of proposals."

It was the taSk of the British delegates to prevent

these conferences from leading to any rash action of a mil-

itary or economic nature. They tried to persuade the other

Locarno representatives of the necessity of studying the

German peace proposals, in other words, of the necessity of

negotiating with Germany. Because of Flandinls refusal to

negotiate with a treaty—breaker, the British objective had

to be attained without seriously alienating France. More-

over, Britain had to extricate herself with honor from the

position of allowing an important treaty to be torn up lest

she lose the respect of the European powers and set a pre-

cedent for future breaches of international law.

The first of the highly publicized Locarno conferences

was held in Paris on Tuesday, March 10th. Representing Great
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Britain were Anthony Eden, Lord Halifax, and Ralph Wigram.1

France was represented by Flandin and Paul-Boncour, Belgium

by Paul van Zeeland, who was Prime Minister and.alSo held

the portfolios of Foreign Affairs and Foreign Commerce, and

Italy by Cerruti, the Italian Ambassador. .

In accordance with Eden's previous request, no deciSions

were made at the first conference; each delegation merely

presented its views. The Italian Ambassador informed the

conference that he was present only as an observer since his.

country was under sanctions. However, he said Italy still

felt bound by the Locarno Treaty and would carry out her

obligations under any decision jointly arrived at.2

In contrast to Italy's equivocal position, the French

delegation showed firmness and determination. After re-

viewing the events leading up to the Rhineland occupation,

Flandin asked the delegates to send a virtual ultimatum to

Germany demanding the withdrawal of troops. Until Germany did

so, France would refuse to negotiate since she was not disposed

to be threatened by force or violence. Flandin said that he

 

1Wigram was a Counsellor in the Foreign Office who was

well aware of the Nazi peril. Churchill, Gathering Storm, p. 81.

2. Flandin, Politigge Frangaise, p. 202.
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intended to demand sanctions from the League Council if

Germany persisted in keeping troops in the Rhineland; the

first stage was to be the withdrawal of the Locarno ambassa-

dors from Berlin.3 '

There is the possibility that Flandin was bluffing,

and that he knew full well the British and Belgian diplomats

would never accept'his demands. He might have put forward.

his strong program merely because it was expected of him. But

even if Flandin was sincere in his demands, one cannot con-

sider economic sanctions, which had just recently failed to

halt Italian aggression, and the withdrawal of ambassadors

as steps sufficient enough to force the German Government to

withdraw its Rhineland forces.

nevertheless, the British delegation was considerably

impressed with the forcefulness of Flandin's arguments. Even

Lord Halifax, by no means a Francophile, was moved by Flandin's

determination to make full use of all moral and material re-

sources.4 However, Eden and Halifax already had their

instructions and could only carry them out. Their surprising

 

3rnus, I, no. 184, pp. 228-229, Straus to Hull, March 10,

1936.

4The Times, March 12, 1936, p. 15.
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thesis was, in effect, that the Treaty of Locarno had been

terminated by Germany's action, so the only thing to do was

negotiate a new pact with her.5 Eden referred to the symbolic

nature of the troops in the Rhineland and pointed out the

value of Hitler's peace proposals, particularly the air pact.

He said the British Government desired that no steps be

taken which would create an irreparable situation and hoped

any decision would be postponed until a meeting of the League

Council. Britain did not intend to sidestep its Locarno

obligations, Eden reassured the French, but believed that a

solution could he arrived at by diplomatic negotiations and

would willingly take charge of these. When Flandin countered

by saying a delay in any punitive action was tantamount to

accepting a Egg; accompli, Lord Halifax said neither he nor

Eden were authorized by their Government to promise anything.6

It was also reported that Flandin had pressed Eden to turn his

temporary promise of aid into a firm and binding treaty.7

 

5"Pertinax," "British Vacillations.“ Foreign Affairs.

XIV (1936), 594.

6F1andin, Politigge Frangaise, pp. 203-204.

7n, Y. Times, March 11, 1936, p. 15.
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Throughout this conference and the subsequent meetings

Belgium played the role of a mediator. Belgium maintained

the position that the breach of treaty should be vigorously

condemned but that the door to negotiation should not be

closed.8 Apparently backing the British delegates, Belgium

was against resorting to military measures or sanctions.9

After the morning conference the British delegation

returned to their Paris Embassy and conducted a discussion

among themselves. The suggestion was made--believed to have

come from Eden-~of transferring both the Locarno meetings

10
and the League Council to London. Eden consulted with

Emime Minister Baldwin by telephone and consent was given.11

Wigram was then sent to Flandin on Eden's authority with the

suggestion to move the discussions to London, and the French

Foreign Minister expressed his approval.12 Later on that

evening it was announced that the Locarno powers would have

8

FRUS, I, p. 264, Memorandum by Sussdorf, March 23,

1936.

9;;ps, I, No. 754, p. 248, Morris to Hull, March 14,

1936.

loghg Times, March 11, 1936, p. 16.

11
Toynbee, Survey, p. 284.

12Churchill, Gathering Storm, p. 195.
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another exchange of views on Thursday, March 12th, and a

meeting of the League Council would be held on Friday,

March 13th. The Council meeting was later postponed to

Saturday, March 14th.

A transfer of the Locarno and League meetings from

Paris to London had obvious advantages for both sides. There

was considerably less tension in London and discussions could

be conducted in a calmer tone, Eden as an inexperienced

Foreign Secretary was glad to have Baldwin assume more re--

Eponsibility in the matter. The British delegation would also

be able to maintain closer contact with their Government and

Foreign Office. But the primary consideration behind the

move was that if Germany were invited to the League Council

to express its views, the chances that Germany would accept

were more likely if the meetings were held in the favorable

atmosphere of London. The French, on their part, believed

they had convinced Eden and Halifax of the seriousness of

the situation and the need for action. Now they could

eatablish personal contact with other British Government

officials and hope to sway them.

The same day, while negotiations were going on in

Paris,.the House of Commons met and debated the huge arma-

ment budget. Although there had been an agreement on Monday
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not to discuss the international situation so as to give the

British diplomats the freest hand possible, several indirect

references were made to the Rhineland crisis. Arthur

Greenwood said that Hitler's statements had often been called

insincere, yet no one had really tried to prove if they

actually were or not.13 Lloyd George lashed out vigorously

against France:

All I know is that I do not think France

is in a position to point the finger of

scorn at Germany on the ground of Treaty—

breaking. Germany has been rash, Germany

has broken a Treaty, but in anourt of

equity she could call evidence which any

judge would say provided some mitigation

of her folly. For 12 years or more

France has refused to carry out her

undertaking to disarm.

Even as vigorous an opponent of Nazi militarism as Winston

Churchill did not call for the expulsion of Germany from the

Rhineland, but rather tried to use this event as a lever to

help catapult the armament budget through the House of

15
Commons. In all, Parliament had shown little sympathy with

the French position.

 

13Par1. Deb., 309 H. c. Deb. 53., col. 1976.
 

14par1. Deb., 309 H. c. Deb. 53., col. 2035.

15Parl . Deb., 309 H. C. Deb. 55., cols. 2002—19.
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But France was not alone in putting pressure on Great

Britain. The Soviet Ambassador, Ivan Maisky, called on Lord

Cranborne, Under-Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, at

the House of Commons on March 10th. Maisky denounced

Germany's breach of treaty in no uncertain terms and expressed

the Soviet Union's intention to ask the League to take resolute

action.16 The strong protestations of Maisky, however, were

due not so much to altruistic motives as to the reality that

the Soviet Union--unlike Britain-—would have everything to

gain by seeing either a diminution of Germany's power or a

war engulfing Western Europe.

On wednesday, March llth, the Qg;;y,Mg;; carried an

important interview which Hitler had granted to one of its

correspondents, Ward Price. Of particular significance was

Hitler's offer to extend his non-aggression pacts to Austria

and Czechoslovakia. This helped to allay some of the appre-

hension in London that perhaps the Rhineland move was a

prelude to bolder undertakings in central Europe. Hitler

undoubtedly tried to flatter the British public when he

suggested that Britain play the role of the "honest broker"

 

16George Bilainkin, Maisky: Ten Years Ambassador

(London, 1944) Pp. 150-151. Hereafter cited as Bilainkin,

Maisky.
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should any difficulties arise in the negotiation of his non-

aggression pacts.17

Unable to fly back from Paris on Tuesday due to fog,

the British delegation took a boat-train and did not arrive

in London until Wednesday afternoon. They immediately pro-

ceeded to westminister for a Cabinet meeting where a full

report was given stressing the gravity of the situation they

found in Paris and the bitterness of the Franch and Belgians

over this latest breach of treaty. Eden and Halifax pointed

out the refusal of the French to consent to anything until

Germany withdrew her troops from the Rhineland.18 It was

reported that Eden had tried to convince his colleagues of

the necessity of imposing sanctions by arguing that if

Germany were allowed to get away with flaunting international

law, the entire policy against Italy would collapse.19 Eden's

position was strengthened by a telegram which had been

received at the Foreign Office that day from Sir Eric Phipps,

 

17Documents 93 Integnational Affairs: 1936, ed. Stephen

Heald (Oxford, 1937). PP. 57-58. Hereafter cited as Documents.

18

The Times, March 12, 1936, p. 14.

19M; W, March 12, 1936, pp. 1, 14.
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the British Ambassador in Berlin. Phipps warned his Govern-

ment against condoning the Rhineland coup because a German

demand for colonies mould immediately follow.” However, the

Cabinet still refused to take any line of action that could

be interpreted as hostile to Germany.

After the Cabinet meeting, Eden sent for Hoesch. He

told the German Ambassador that Britain took a grave view

of the present situation. Another Locarno meeting was to

take place tomorrow and Eden felt justified in asking

Hitler for a "spontaneous contribution which would help in

securing a settlement." Eden suggested as Germany's

"contribution" the withdrawal of all but a symbolic number

of troops from the Rhineland and the promise not to fortify

the zone while negotiations were pending. He felt sure that

if the German Government would agree to this, the tension in

international relations would be considerably eased.21

The initiative exercised by Eden in attempting to get

a contribution from Germany was brought about by a sane

 

20N,‘Y. Times, March 12, 1936, p. 14. Phipps was said

to have been disliked by the Nazis because he did not try to

persuade the Baldwin Cabinet to return some of the former

German colonies. Bilainkin, Maisky, p. 178.

21The Times, March 13, 1936, p. 14.
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appraisal of the international situation. It was evident

that a deadlock would develop if France refused to negotiate

while troops were stationed in the Rhineland, since Hitler

could not back down and still expect to keep face with the

German people. What Eden hoped to achieve was a compromise.

It was conceivable that Hitler could consent to a limited

withdrawal without loss of honor and France would have the

satisfaction of seeing Germany make some gesture that would

enable her to enter into negotiations. Evidently the Quai

d'Orsay found out about Eden's action and issued a categorical

denial on Wednesday that France would negotiate with Germany

if the latter reduced its Rhineland forces and promised not

to build fortifications.22 The very fact that the denial

was:made public seems to indicate the strength of the French

stand on this point.

On Thursday morning, March 12th, Hoesch, with instructions

from Hitler, called on Eden. The Ambassador said Germany could

not discuss any limitations upbn her sovereignty. However,

Hitler wished the French to study his Peace Proposals, and, in

order to facilitate this, he was willing not to increase the

strength of his Rhineland forces or to station them nearer the

 

22133 Times. March 13, 1936, p. 15.
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French or Belgian borders. Hoesch said this condition

would be observed for the duration of the negotiations,

but it was expected that Belgium and France would also agree

not to increase their frontier forces or move them closer

to the border.23

After the conversation with Hoesch, Eden attended

another Cabinet meeting. The complex situation was con-

sidered in the light of Eden's and Halifax's report of the

previous evening.24 Because ofiflne unfavorable German

reply, the Cabinet was a little more disposed to Eden's

View; Moreover, the Cabinet ministers no doubt had in

their minds the stern and firm words of Flandin, who said

in a statement to the press when he arrived late Wednesday

night: "I need only ask every Englishman carefully to read

once more the text of the Locarno Treaty that he may exactly

take stock of the obligations resulting from it."25

While the Cabinet was trying to figure out a way to

avoid French demands, Flandin was busy going about London on

March 12th trying to drum up support for his position.

 

2311122 times. March 13. 1936. p. 14.

242119. Elise. March 13. 1936, p. 14.

252119. Times. March 13. 1936, p. 14.
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Winston Churchill received him early in the morning at his

London flat. Flandin told Churchill that he was going to

demand simultaneous mobilization of all land, sea, and air

forces from both countries. Churchill said he could do

little for him either as an individual or in his capacity

as a Member of Parliament but nevertheless wished Flandin

success in the matter.”26

Wigram, sympathizing with Flandin's view, brought the

French Foreign Minister in contact with as many people as he

could from the City, the press, and Government. To everyone

he met, Flandin said in effect that the eyes of the world

were on Britain, that if they did not act now it would be

impossible to stop Hitler in the future and war would be in-

evitable.27

The Chancellor of the Exchequer, Neville Chamberlain,

also spdke to Flandin sometime during that day. Concerning

their conversation, Chamberlain recorded in his diary:

talked to Flandin, emphasizing that

public opinion here would not support

us in sanctions of any kind. His view

is that, if a firm front is maintained

 

26

Churchill, Gathering Storm, p. 195.

27Churchill, Gathering Storm, p. 196.
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by France and England, Germany will

yield without war. We cannot accept

this as a reliable estimate of a mad

Dictator's reaction.28

The more people with whom Flandin came in contact, the more

discouraged he became.

The Locarno Conference was held in the Old Cabinet

Room at the Foreign Office. .Ironically, in order to enter it

the delegates had to pass through the stately hall known as

the Locarno Room where the Treaties of Locarno were signed

in 1925. The first meeting was held late in the afternoon,

with Eden, Lord Halifax, and Sir Robert Vansittart repre-

senting Britain; Flandin and Paul van Zeeland represented

France and Belgium respectively, accompanied by their am-

bassadors to Britain: and Dino Grandi, the Italian Ambassador,

was present in the capacity of an observer for Italy. Later

on in the evening the leaders of the delegations met in the

hope that a conference with fewer participants might have

greater success in finding a solution to the problems.

Flandin again took the offensive and demanded the withe

drawal of troops from the Rhineland pointing out the futility

 

28

Feiling, Chamberlagg, p. 279.





73

of negotiating with a lawbreaker.29 He rejected Hoesch's

reply of that morning and said it would not please France to

have Britain evade her Locarno obligations by attempting to

find fresh assurances that France could accept.30

The British delegation felt that the German reply was

at least an advancement in the present situation and Eden;

suggested a re—examination of the situation and the negoti-

ation of a fresh agreement. Eden informed Flandin that if

France did not press his Government too hard, he hoped to

bring public opinion around to the French point of view.31

Paul-Boncour, a member of the French delegation, believed

Eden had "tried his best" but could not overcome the atti-

tude assumed by men like Halifax and Chamberlain.32

Upon hearing how badly things had gone for the French,

Churchill advised Flandin to see Stanley Baldwin.33 In his

 

29The Times, March 13, 1936, p. 14,

BOFRUS, I, No. 115, p. 242, Atherton to Hull. March 13.

1936.
'

31FRUS, I, No. 115, pp. 242-243, Atherton to Hull,

March 13, 1936.

32Paul-Boncour, Sggyenirs, III, 36. Found in Gaetano

Salvemini, Prelude gg‘World War ;; (New York, 1954), p. 434.

33Churchill, Gathering Storm, p. 197.
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talk with Flandin at Downing Street, the British Prime

Minister said he knew little about foreign affairs, but he.

was confident that he understood the will of the British

people and that will was for peace. Flandin pointed out

the best way to attain peace was to stop Hitler while the

Allies had the chance. In his memoirs, Flandin claims he

then said to Baldwin that France would assume all respon-

sibility in expelling the German troops from the Rhineland

since that would be a simple police operation: all that he

asked was a freehand}4 Churchill has pointed out in his

own memoirs that it is indeed strange that Flandin should

aSk for what he was legally entitled to do under the Locarno

Treaty.35 But it may well be that Flandin, although aware

of his legal rights under Locarno, wanted to make sure he

had the moral support of the British before undertaking any

military action, no matter how simple it might appear.

Baldwin was supposed to have replied-~which seems more likely--

that if there was one chance in a hundred that war would

result from the police action, then he had no right to engage

 

34Flandin, Politique Frangaise, pp. 207-208.

35Churchill, Gathering Storm, p. 197.
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36 FlandinBritain. since Britain was not prepared for war.

left Downing Street convinced that France could expect no

support, either material or moral, from the British Govern-

ment in her effort to drive Germany from the Rhineland.

News from Rome on Thursday did notlielp to brighten

the picture in the Locarno camp. The British Ambassador

received an aide-memoir from the Italian Government stating

that the recent bombing incidents in Ethiopia were the result

of British ambulances firing on Italian airplanes. In the

future, the Italian Government hoped the British ambulance

crews would observe their "strictly neutral and humanitarian

chcaracter."37 So while sanctions and bombing incidents

continued to mar Anglo-Italian relations, the presence of

an Italian delegate supposedly cooperating with Britain in

an effort to uphold international law gave a rather ludicrous

appearance to the Locarno conferences.

A turning point in the Locarno meetings came on Friday,

March 13th, when there was less talk about retaliatory action

 

36Flandin, Politique Frangaise, p. 208.

37British Cmd. 5160, Correspondence Exchanged with Egg

Italian Goyggnment Regardipg the Bombing py Italian Military

Aircraft 9; Egg British Red Cgoss Ambulance No. l ;Q_Ethiopia,

March-April 1936 (London, 1936), No. 1, Suvich to Drummond,

March 12, 1936.



76

and more about West European security. At the morning con-

ference, Paul Van Zeeland, in an effort to harmonize the

conflicting French and British views, submitted a plan for

discussion. In essence, this plan stated that if France

would agree not to take any punitive action against Germany,

then Great Britain should show her good faith by making some

contribution towards the security of Belgium and France.38

This plan seemed to rule out the possibility of sanctions,

and very definitely ruled out French military action.) At

the same time, France and Belgium would benefit by having

Great Britain give them some compensation for their loss of

security due to Germany's breakaway from the European

alliance system. The Council of Imperial Defence and a

special committee of the Cabinet were said to have met and

considered the possibility of giving a permanent military

agreement to France and Belgium.39 The delegates then went

to work on making various drafts covering the entire Rhineland

problem with the object of arriving at some agreement.

That same day Sir Eric Phipps called at the Wilhelmstrasse.

In order to help Britain during the negotiations, Sir Eric

 

388he Times, March 14. 1936. p. 12.

 

39FRUS, I, No. 116, p. 243, Atherton to Hull, March 13,

1936.
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emphasized the need for Germany to make some concession

either by withdrawing or reducing the number of Rhineland

40
troops. Perhaps referring to the above conversation, the

American Chargé’d'Affaires in London sent a telegram to
 

Washington dated March 13th, saying that a "rumor persists

here in well—informed quarters that Hitler has again been

approached asking that he realize the British will be forced

into a position they are reluctant to assume unless he con-

tribute something beyond the German memorandum...'141 The

"reluctant position" undoubtedly referred to the security

agreements that Belgium and France were seeking.

WOrk on the draft proposals was intensified the

following week. For the most part, the Locarno negotiations

were handled by a committee of four composed of Eden, Flandin,

van Zeeland, and Grandi.’ Assisting the British Foreign

Secretary were Lord Halifax, Neville Chamberlain, and Ramsey

MacDonald.42 France tried to make the Locarno proposals as

 

4O§;_X;,$;gg§, March 14, 1936, pp. 1, 6.

41E§Q§, I, No. 116, pp. 243-244, Atherton to Hull,

March 13, 1936.

“The Times, March 18, 1936, p. 14. The inclusion of

MacDonald, a former Prime Minister and well-known National

Laborite, served the dual purpose of lending MacDonald's
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strong as possible in wording and to gain a maximum guarantee

or security from Britain. Britain, on the other hand, pur-

sued just the opposite course. On Tuesday, March 17th, Eden

presented Flandin with a tentative draft of the British pro-

posals for a settlement of the current crisis. The chief

point called for a demilitarized zone to be duplicated on

French and Belgian territory as well as German, which was to

be placed under the control of an international military

commission and a special police force. Eden's proposal

caused a violent reaction among the French delegation and

Flandin was said to have been "deeply mortified" by the

- 43

suggestion.

Despite hard bargaining and occasional bitter feeling,

progress was made towards a draft of proposals to end the

Locarno deadlock. As with all conferences, compromises

played a key role. Flandin finally came to accept the

British position that a German "contribution" would ease the way

to negotiations, but he added the stipulation that Germany in

 

experience in foreign affairs to the British delegation, and

also gave a “bi-partisan" flavor to a delegation which other-

wise was composed of staunch Tories.

43

N. Y. nges, March 18, 1936, p. 12.
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turn must submit her arguments concerning the Franco-Soviet

Pact and the Locarno Treaty to the WOrld Court at the

Hague.44 However, due to Hitler's reckless--or perhaps

calculated-~promises during the German "election" that he

would tolerate absolutely no limitations upon Germany's

sovereignty, the idea of even a limited withdrawal was now

out of the question. In order to prevent a deadlock Flandin

finally accepted Neville Chamberlain's suggestion that an

international police force patrol the Rhineland during the

period of negotiations. The added promise of British mili-

tary guarantees probably helped to induce the French to

accept Chamberlain's scheme. The negotiations were finally

concluded in the small hours of Thursday morning, March 19th.

The final draft was put into shape by Sir William Malkin,

the Legal Adviser to the Foreign Office.45

A Cabinet meeting was held that morning in the Prime

Minister's Room at the House of Commons to study the draft.

Final approval was held up until Eden had a chance to discuss

the matter with Joachim von Ribbentrop, Hitler's special

 

44Toynbee, Survey, pp. 288-289.

45The Times, March 20, 1936, p. 14.
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Delegate to the League of Nations. In the evening, when Eden

presented Ribbentrop with a brief outline of the proposals,

the latter said he would take no decision until he had seen

the text as a whole. Another meeting took place late that

evening and the Cabinet members gave their assent.46 The

French Government also approved the draft on the same day

and Belgium followed suit on Friday: Italy never gave her

approval.

The final agreement reached on March 19th had three

parts: a Text of Proposals which formed the body of the

agreement, a Draft Resolution to be presented to the League

Council, and a "letter of guarantee" to be addressed to

Belgium and France.47 In the Text of Proposals, the Powers

reaffirmed Germany's guilt and their intention to honor the

obligations arising from the Treaty of Locarno which they

believed still subsisted in its entirety. The Powers under-

took to have their General Staffs enter into consultation so

as to meet any act of unprovoked aggression that might arise.

 

45The Times, March 20, 1936. p. 14.

47British Cmd. 5134, Proposals Made by the United Kingdgm,

Belgium,.§§ance and Italy 93 the German Re-occupation of the

Rhingland, London, March 19, 1936 (London, 1936). Hereafter

cited as Cmd. 5134.
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A series of "invitations“ were sent to the German Government.

Germany was invited to place her case regarding the Franco-

Soviet Pact before the Hague Court and was to accept the

Court's decision as final. Germany was also asked not to

send any more troops or war material into the Rhineland, not

to incorporate the para-military forces in the Rhineland into

the regular army, and not to erect fortifications or improve

landing strips. The most controversial point of the Text of

Proposals called for the creation of an international force,

supervised by an international commission and including de-

tachments from the Locarno Powers, to police a zone twenty

kilometers wide on the German side of the frontier.

If Germany "explicitly" accepted the above recommen-

dations, the Locarno powers promised to study Hitler's offer

of an air pact and non-aggression pacts to Western Europe.

The possibility of revising the status of the Rhineland was

held out, and the hope was expressed that eventually a zone,

presumably on both sides of the Franco-Belgian-German frontier,

could be negotiated where fortifications would be limited or

prohibited. When the security of Western Europe was assured,

the Locarno Powers would then call an international conference

in order to procure an effective limitation of armaments, a

reestablishment of world economic relations, and an examination~
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of Hitler's offer of non-aggression pacts to his southern and

eastern neighbors, as well as the question of Germany's

colonial rights and the divorce of the League Covenant from

the Treaty of Versailles. The priority of a west European

settlement in this plan was probably due to the British

delegation's insistence that no obligations be taken in the

troublesome Eastern European area until peace had been

assured in the West. Ramsay MacDonald was believed to have

suggested the inclusion of a world economic conference since

the Laborites tended to reduce all of Europe's evils to trade

and colonies.48

Attached to this Text of Proposals were the two annexes.

The first, a Draft Resolution, was presented to the League

Council and will be dealt with in the next chapter. The sec-

ond document was a "letter of guarantee" to be given by

Britain and Italy to Belgium and France. It stated that if

the present effort at conciliation failed, then Britain (or

Italy) would enter into consultation with France (or Belgium)

"to meet the new situation created" and assist that government

in any measure jointly decided upon. Also, "all practical

measures available" were to be taken so as to repel an

 

48

N. Y. Times, March 20, 1936, p. 13.
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unprovoked act of aggression. But unlike the Treaty of

Locarno, the guarantees were to be reciprocal: that is, Britain

was now assured of assistance in case she was attacked. The

reciprocal nature of the ”letters of guarantee" was pro-

bably included in order to make them more palatable to the

British public.



Chapter IV

THE LEAGUE CONDEMNS GERMANY

While the Locarno meetings were still in progress, the

ninety-first (extraordinary) session of the League Council

opened on March 14th to consider Germany's breach of the

Locarno treaty. The Council meetings--secret, private, and

public--were held in the stately and historic Palace of St.

James under the presidency of Mr. Bruce, the Australian dele-

gate. According to the provisions of the Locarno Pact, the

Council was merely to pronounce upon a violation and immediately

to notify its findings to the signatories of the Pact. Puni-

tive action rested with the Locarno Powers, not with the

League.

From the beginning of the crisis, Great Britain had

maintained the position that the League of Nations was the

only body competent to decide whether a violation of the

Locarno Treaty had actually occurred (as if there were any

doubt). Britain's real motive behind adopting this stand was

to prevent France from taking any hasty military action. To

call a meeting of the League also took time and Britain felt

that time was necessary to let international tempers cool. The

British Foreign Office had been opposed to holding a Council

meeting until the Locarno discussions yielded some degree of
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harmony.1 However, the French refused to consider any post-

ponement of the League Council meeting regardless of what

progress was being made on the Locarno level.2

At the first public session of the League Council, Eden

made a brief speech. He wanted it clearly understood that

Britain considered that a "patent and incontestable breach'

of the Locarno Treaty had taken place. .If the Council shared

this view, he asked them "to find a solution of the diffi-

culties with which we are confronted.“ This position may be

contrasted with that of the French who held that the Council

was assembled to record a violation of a treaty, not to find

any peaceful solutions.3 Eden concluded by saying Britain

would cooperate with the League "in all endeavors to establish

peace and understanding among the nations of Europe upon a firm

and enduring foundation". In all, Eden's speech had a peaceful

 

1FRUS, I, No. 108, p. 236, Atherton to Hull, March 12,

1936.

2FRUS, I, No. 115, p. 242, Atherton to Hull, March 13,

1936.

3In a public statement on the evening of March 15th,

Flandin said: “I came to London in order to establish

Germany's breach of treaty, and not to negotiate with the

Reich.” ghg TimesI March 16, 1936, p. 12.
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and conciliatory tone.4 It gave the impression that Britain

wanted the League to find a solution so she would not have

to shoulder any excessive Locarno obligations.

During the rest of the public session, the French and

Belgian statesmen presented their views. Flandin said that

France could have taken unilateral action against Germany

under the terms of the Locarno Treaty, but instead was re-

ferring her case to the League solely because of her duty to

preserve the peace of Europe. He asked the League to condemn

Germany's breach of treaty.; Then, apparently for the benefit

of the British, he said that once the Locarno Powers were

notified of the League's decision, he was‘confident they

would readily discharge their duties which devolved from the

Locarno Treaty. It is perhaps significant that Flandin men-

tioned the duties of the guarantor Powers twice during his

speech.5

The Belgian.position was given by Paul van Zeeland and

it closely followed the French position except for one impor—

tant point. Van Zeeland, like Eden, spoke of his country's

 

4Leagge of Nations Official Journal, April, 1936

(Part I). p. 312. Hereafter cited as LNOJ.

SLNOJ, pp. 312-314.
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desire to ”contribute to the full in all efforts at recon-

6
struction." Thus Britain was not alone in her effort to

rebuild the shaken structure of European confidence.

Later on that day the League Council went into a

secret session. After much discussion the delegated de-

cided to send the German Government a formal invitation

to take part in the Council proceedings. This would give

Germany the opportunity to present her view of the Rhineland

question. It was reported that Britain had led the way in

trying to get the Council members to extend such an invi-

tation.7

Britain then exerted strong pressure on the German

Government to accept the League's irvitation. Sir Eric

Phipps saw Neurath, the German Foreign Minister, on the

evening of the 14th and advised him that Britain thought

0

acceptance would be beneficial.0 Apparently meeting with

no success, Phipps called the following morning on AdOph

Hitler who had just returned from Munich after making an

 

6LNOJ, pp. 314-315.

7N. Y. Times, March 15, 1936, p. l.
 

8The Times, March 16, 1936, p. 12.
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"election" speech. They discussed the League's invitation

and Phipps pleaded with Hitler to accept it without any

conditions.9 He spoke "eloquently and stubbornly,“ pointing

out the necessity of attending the Council meetings in order

to preserve European unity.10 The persistence of Phipps was

believed to have been a factor in Hitler's decision to attend

the League Council and face almost certain condemnation.

However, despite all of Phipps' pleadings, the German

reply of acceptance, dated March 15th, was conditional.

Germany asked that she take part in the Council discussion on

the basis of equality with the other Powers, and that her

peace proposals of March 7th be studied "forthwith" (alsbald)

11 The first condition was vague enoughby the League Council.

and presented no real problem. But the second stipulation--

that the German peace proposals be studied immediately-—

looked very much as though the German Government were dic—

tating to the League. The Daily Telegraph, reflecting the

view of the British Foreign Office, found the German reply

 

9N. Y. Times, March 16, 1936, p. 1.

10L!!- Times, March 18, 1936, p. 13.

11LN0J, p. 316.
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a "bitter disappointment," and when Flandin heard of the

German conditions he became furious.12

Again the German Government found sympathy for its

actions in the British press. The Times felt that "it

would not be unreasonable that the Council, after condemning

a plain offense against international law, should turn forth-

with to consider the proposals which have been put forward

both in extenuation of what has been done and as a guarantee

that it shall not be done again."13 Even a pro-League paper

like the Eggg Chronicle said Flandin's reaction to the German

reply was "far too violent to satisfy British opinion" and

called his statements “melodramatic and short-sighted."

The Eggg Chronicle added: "Difficult as the prospect may

still be of finding a compromise that will satisfy the gmggg

propre of both parties, British public opinion will cer-

tainly not stand for a breakdown that sacrifices all hope

of appeasement in order to satisfy the French sense of

punctilio."14

12R. Y. Times, March 16, 1936, pp. 1, 11.

13The Times, March 16, 1936, p. 13.

14H. Y. Times, March 16, 1936, p. 11.
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The tension in London over the German reply was con-

siderably eased when official quarters in Berlin announced

that "alsbald" meant "in due course" or "in normal sequence"

and not “immediately."15 The German reply with the proper

translation adjustments was then discussed in a secret session

on the morning of March 16th. Britain wanted the German con-

ditions to be met as far as was reasonabletand possible. It

was finally decided to send Germany a telegram stating that

she would be admitted on the same terms as the other Locarno

Powers; as for the peace proposals, the League said it could

not give the German Government the assurances it desired.16

Britain continued in her effort to secure Germany's

presence at the Council Meetings. On March 17th Sir Eric

Phipps received a Note from the German Foreign Office which

he immediately dispatched to London. The note said Germany

expected Great Britain would do its "utmost in the circum-

stances of the case to bring about at the proper time a

discussion with the interested Powers of our proposals."

As soon as Eden received the Note he got in touch with Flandin

and van Zeeland. Then, after consulting with Baldwin, Eden

 

15

The Times, March 17, 1936, p. 16.

16LN'OJ, pp. 317-318.
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sent the following reply to the German Ambassador:

His Majesty's Government are doing and

will continue to do their utmost to find a

means of bringing about a peaceful and satis-

factory settlement of the present diffi-

culties. It is clear to His Majesty's

Government that the proposals of the Chan-

cellor, as well as any proposals made by

the other parties concerned, must be

discussed at the proper time.

The German Government will appreciate,

however, that it is not possible for His

Majesty's Government to give any more

explicit assurance at this stage.17

On the afternoon of the 17th a secret session of the

League Council was held. Charles Selden, a London correSw

pondent for the New York Times, reported that the meeting
 

was marked by bickering over Eden‘s exchange of notes with

18 While the Council was still inthe German Government.

secret session, Eden received a communication from Herr Hoesch

saying that Germany had accepted the League's invitation.

Eden suggested to the Council members that the general debate

be postponed until the German delegate arrived, but Flandin,

Litvinovf, the Russian delegate, and Titulesco, the represen-

tative of the Little Entente, refused to hear of any delay in

 

17The Times, March 18, 1936, p. 14.

18§4_Y, Iimgg, March 18, 1936, p. 12.
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. 19
the League 5 business.

Later on that day the German Government announced it

would be represented at the League by Joachim von Ribbentrop,

20 The decision to sendHitler's Ambassador-at-Large.

Ribbentrop, like so many of the other decisions of Hitler

during the crisis, was determined largely with the British

in mind. Hitler believed that Ribbentrop "was very popular

in London" and that his personal contacts would be useful

in helping the German cause.21

The highlight of the public session on the l7th--and

perhaps of the entire League session--was Litvinovf's

withering condemnation of Nazi Germany. He logically and

thoroughly refuted all the German arguments justifying the

breach of Locarno, and he pointed out many loopholes in the

German Peace Plan. Litvinovf excused himself for his

vitriolic attack by saying that the recent propaganda out-

bursts against the Soviet Union by Germany had freed him from

 

19111;; Times, March 18, 1936, p. 14.

20mm, p. 318.

21Toynbee, Survey, p. 299. See also, Paul Schwarz,

This Man Ribbentrop (New'York) 1943, p. 153.
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the usual rules of diplomatic behavior.22

Eden's speech on the following day, March 18th, had

none of the bitterness and resoluteness found in the Russian

delegate's address. Once again the British Foreign Secre-

tary asserted that the duty of the League was not merely to

record a breach of treaty but to preserve peace and establish

understanding among the nations of Europe. In order to re-

store international confidence, he called upon each nation

that had the power to do so to make a constructive contribution.

Eden felt there were two elements about the present situation

which should be used to advantage.

The first is that the breach, however

plain, does not carry with it any imminent

threat of hostilities, and has not involved

that immediate action for which, in certain

circumstances, the Treaty of Locarno provides.

We happily have time in which to endow our

action with the prudence, as well as the

determination, which the situation requires.

In the second place, the situation, however,

grave, carries with it an opportunity.“

Although Eden was vague as to what opportunity could arise

from a repudiation-of a major European treaty, he undoubtedly

was referring to Hitler's peace proposals. It is significant

 

22LNOJ, pp. 319-323.

23LNOJ, pp. 326-327.
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to note that he assured the Council of the cooperation of

Britain, not in carrying out her Locarno obligations, but

"in the work of reconstruction" and "in the organization of

the security of Western Europe."23

Herr Ribbentrop used the entire morning session of the

19th to put forward the German case. As was expected, be

justified Germany's position from a political, not a legal

standpoint. He pointed out that the Franco-Soviet Pact,

comprising two empires of 275 million people, was directed

exclusively against Germany. Ribbentrop reminded the Coun-

cil that several of Hitler's peace offers in the past had

-been rejected. Germany would not submit her case to the

Hague Court because that body was concerned only with legal,

and not political, aspects. Now that the sovereignty over

the Rhineland had been achieved, he said the German people

desired to live in peace and friendship with the rest of

Europe.24 Paul Schmidt, interpreter for Ribbentrop at the

Council meeting, wrote in his memoirs that although this

speech did not make much impression upon the League Council,

it did have a noticeable effect upon the press and influenced

 

23LNGI, pp. 326-327.

24LNOJ, pp. 334-338.
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negotiations in the coming weeks.

The Council had originally planned to vote on a Franco-

Belgian resolution condemning Germany immediately after

Ribbentrop's speech. The Germans had objected to this be-

cause they felt Ribbentrop's remarks should be given proper

consideration before a vote. Due to the hard work of the

German Ambassador, along with the understanding and cooper-

ation of Mr. Bruce and the British, the Council agreed to an

intermission before taking a vote.26 When the League members

reassembled they unanimously found Germany guilty of a breach

of the Treaty of Locarno.27 It had taken exactly thirteen days

to confirm Germany's guilt "officially".

In his memoirs, RibbentrOp recalls some of the conver—

sations he had in London during the days immediately following

the League's verdict. Although he wrote his memoirs under a

 

2

5Paul Schmidt, Hitler's Interpreter (New York, 1951),

p. 42. Hereafter cited as Schmidt: Interpreter.

26

 

 

Schmidt, Interpreter, p. M3.
 

27The Nations which voted for the Franco—Belgian reso-

lution condemning Germany's breach of the Locarno Treaty were:

Argentina, Denmark, Spain, Poland, Portugal, Roumania, Turkey,

U. S. S. R., Australia, United Kingdom, Italy, France, and

Belgium. Germany voted against the resolution; Chile abstained;

and Ecuador was absent. Since the Locarno Treaty stated that

the votes of the interested Powers were not to be counted

when determining unanimity, the resolution was declared

unanimously carried. LNOJ, p. 340.
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great mental strain at Nuremberg and with a pronounced bias,

he does have some interesting--and seemingly accurate--

comments about Anglo-German relations. On the day following

Germany's condemnation by the League, March 29th, Ribbentrop

had a long talk with Eden at the Foreign Office. The dis-

cussion centered mainly around the strength of German troops

and fortifications in the Rhineland and the chances of

Germany making a symbolic withdrawal. Ribbentrop claims

that during this, as well as two later conversations, Eden

"displayed a certain understanding for the German point of

view, and he was more amiable than I had expected in the

circumstances.“ Occasionally Eden and Ribbentrop had

"rather rough passages" in their conversations, but both

worked hard to prevent any deterioration of relations be-

tween their countries.28

When the League Council convened on the 20th, the

delegates were presented with the Text of Proposals dis-

cussed in the previous chapter. Among the Locarno proposals

was a draft resolution to be presented to the Council. This

resolution asserted that a scrupulous respect for treaties is

essential to uphold international law and that the recent

 

28The Ribbentrop Memoirs (London, 1954), pp. 56-57.
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German action conflicted with these principles. By her

unilateral action, Germany had conferred "upon itself no

legal rights" and had introduced ta new disturbing element

into the international situation." The resolution

recommended that the League form a committee "with the

task of making proposals to it with regard to the practical

measures to be recommended to the Members of the League of

Nations," and that it invite the German Government to submit

the German case concerning the Franco—Soviet Pact to the

Hague Court.29

During the debate on the 20th the Council members

decided to hold off any discussion of the Locarno proposals

until they had time to consult with their respective govern-

ments.30 The Council did not meet again until March 24th. At

this meeting President Bruce pointed out that no business

was before the Council because the Locarno Powers had not yet

formally submitted their draft resolution. The delegates agreed

not to close the session, but merely to adjourn, and meet again

"as soon as circumstances render further consideration of the

 

29cm. 5134.

3°LN0J, pp. 341-346
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question desirable."3l But those circumstances which would

permit further consideration of the Rhineland question never

arose. For the third time in five years the League demon-

strated its impotence when faced with the rule of force.

 

31LNOJ, pp. 346-347.



Chapter V

PERIOD OF BIGGER AND BETTER PEACE PLANS

The events of March 19th had placed the Locarno Powers

in a favorable moral and material position. Germany had been

condemned by the League Council, and Belgium, France, and

Great Britain had agreed in their Text of Proposals to uphold

the Locarno Pact, to arrange for General Staff talks, and to

exchange Letters of Guarantee in order to safeguard their

security. Instead of taking advantage of this situation, the

Locarno Powers failed to exert any real diplomatic pressure

on Germany, for in the following weeks Great Britain merely

continued her efforts to get France and Germany to enter into

negotiations with each other.

On the evening of March 19th, before the Cabinet had

approved the Text of Proposals, Eden sent for Ribbentrop and

1 Later on that same eveninggave him a brief outline of them.

the German envoy was presented with a complete text. Before

Ribbentrop left on the let for Berlin, he conversed with

Eden in person and by telephone. During these conversations

Eden emphasized that the contents of the March 19th Proposals

 

1Parl. Deb., 310 H. C. Deb. 55., col. 847.
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were merely in the nature of proposals, and he hoped that the

German Government would be in a position to accept them. He

felt that the German Government should assist Great Britain

in its task by making some constructive contribution to im-

prove the situation.2 Herr Ribbentrop was invited to submit

counter-proposals if he did not find the Locarno Proposals to

his liking.3 Sir Eric Phipps called on the German Foreign

Minister in Berlin on March 22nd and he too explained that

the Locarno memorandum was to be taken as a proposal only

and not as any final decision by the Locarno Powers.4

However, the French held a different view of the

Locarno Proposals. Addressing the Chamber of Deputies on

March 20th, Flandin said negotiations with Germany could not

begin until the latter accepted all the conditions laid down

in the Locarno agreement.5 Thus France considered the Pro-

posals an ultimatum and not a draft to be subjected to

piecemeal bargaining. Shortly after Flandin's address to the

 

2Parl, Deb., 310 H. c. Deb. 5a., col. 859.

3N. Y=_Times, March 22, 1936, p. 30.

4The Times, March 24, 1936, p. 16.

5Toynbee, Survey, pp. 307-308.
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Chamber, the Tribune des Nations, a weekly journal, carried

an interview which one of its correspondents had with Flandin.

The French Foreign Minister clearly expressed his exasper-

ation in this interview at the conduct of the British. He

threatened to come to a separate European arrangement with

Germany should the British insist on making "one surrender

after another."6

Ribbentrop in the meantime had flown back to Berlin to

receive new instructions. He returned to London on March 24th

and handed Eden a Note from his Government. The German Note,

after repeating the principles and motives for the Rhineland

occupation, flatly rejected the Locarno Proposals, but prom-

ised that the German Government, in order to show its

interest in securing European peace, would submit new posi-

7 Eden and Ribbentroptive counter-proposals on March Blst.

then held another series of talks until the latter left for

Berlin on the 27th. Paul Schmidt, the official interpreter

of the German delegation, records in his memoirs the gist of

 

6:139 Timgs, March 24, 1936, p. 16.

7British Cmd. 5175, Correspondence with the German

Government Regarding the German Proposals £9; a3 European

SgttlementyMagch g4--May 6, 1936 (London, 1936), No. 1, Note

Communicated by Ribbentrop, March 24, 1936. Hereafter cited

as Cmd. 5175.
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the conversation held between the two men.

Eden tried to get from Ribbentrop at least an

undertaking that no fortifications should be

set up in the Rhineland, at any rate for a

period. Ribbentrop countered by objecting to

the proposed Anglo-French staff talks which

were to decide what action should be taken if

France were actually attacked. The phrase

"staff-talks" to Ribbentrop was like a red

rag to a bull. He felt instinctively that

concrete military agreements between England

and France would be a very high price to pay

for the remilitarization of the Rhineland.8

Another member of the German delegation was Dr. Hans

Dieckhoff, head of the Political Department of the German

Foreign Office in charge of British and American relations.

At the Nuremberg Trials Dr. Dieckhoff testified that during

his stay in London he discussed the Rhineland question with

many Englishmen and “in the widest circles“ he found the

view'that no one could deny Germany's right to remilitarize

her own Rhineland. “In some circles I [Dieckhoff] even

found the view that it was a relief that the remilitarization

of the Rhineland, which was due sooner or later in any case,

 

8Schmidt, Integpreter, p. 45. Hitler, in a speech at

Ludwigshafen on March 25th, tried to put the Locarno staff

talks in an unfavorable light when he said: "I do not in-

tend to draw up any secret documents or conclude any secret

alliances. I assure you, my fellow-countrymen, I will never

pledge Germany to anything without informing the whole German

people. I will not allow the German general staff to conclude

with anyone military agreements of which the public know

nothing." Baynes, Speeches, p. 1316.
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was carried out so quickly and comparatively painlessly."9

While the above conversations were going on, the much

awaited debate on the Rhineland crisis took place in the

House of Commons on March 26th. In a speech that was con-

sidered very courageous, Eden presented the Government's

view of the crisis. He said the British public had to "dis-

tinguish between what may be national sentiment and what are,

for good or ill, our national obligations." When Eden said

he was not prepared to be the first British Foreign Secretary

to go back on a British signature, he quite naturally received

a burst of applause. Turning to the Locarno Proposals, Eden

said:

I must make it plain that these proposals have .

always been proposals. They are not an ultimatum,

still less a Diktat. If an international force

were the difficulty, and if the German Government

could offer some other constructive proposals to

take its place, His Majesty's Government will be

quite ready to go to the other Powers interested

and try to secure agreement upon them; but it

must be appreciated that without some constructive

contribution from the German side the task of those

whose sole aim and ambition is to start these ne-

gotiations will be an almost impossible one.

He assured Hitler that the forthcoming German counter-proposals

would be received with an "open mind" and a “keen desire" to

 

9IMT,XVII, 124.
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put them into action if possible. Eden also spent some time

justifying the coming staff conversations among Britain,

France, and Belgium, stressing the fact that they would be

purely technical conversations and carry no political obli-

gations with them. The Foreign Secretary ended his almost

hour-long speech by calling the British public to realize its

obligations and support the Government in its difficulties.10

Hugh Dalton replied for the Opposition and said the

Labour Party could not support the Locarno Proposals. The

idea of a mixed international force to be stationed on German

soil was termed "fantastic and absurd." Dalton pointed out

how ridiculous it would be to have British and Italian sol-

diers cooperating in the Rhineland while the very name of

England was hissed at by Mussolini and the Italian Chamber

of Deputies. Probably referring to the proposed staff talks

and the possibility of France receiving a Letter of Guarantee

from Britain, Dalton said the public would not support an ex-

clusive Anglo-French military agreement. As for taking any

punitive action against Germany he said:

It is only right to say bluntly and frankly

that public opinion in this country would not

support, and certainly the Labour party would

 

102.81%. 2932-. 310 H. c. Deb. 55., cols. 1435-49.
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not support the taking of military sanctions

or even economic sanctions against Germany at

this time, in order to put German troops out

of the German Rhineland.

Eden was criticized for his concern only with Western Europe;

Dalton wanted Europe to be viewed as a whole, East as well as

West. Like all good Laborites, Dalton ended on a plea for a

betterment of European economic conditions and emphasized the

need for a conference to deal with economic problems.11

The lengthy debate that followed kept within partisan

lines and was patterned after the views presented by the first

two speakers. Some of the points most frequently referred to

were the pacifist and almost pro-German attitude of the

British public, the fear that Germany might demand back her

former colonies, the indivisibility of peace in East and west

Europe, and the role of economics in the present tense situ-

ation. One of the most telling speeches was Lloyd George's

criticism of the coming staff talks. Speaking from experience,

Lloyd George warned the Commons that it was military conventions--

"a short cut to war"-éwhich had thwarted negotiations in 1914

and had precipitated the Great War.12 This attack by Lloyd

 

llgggi. 2gp., 310 H. C. Deb. 55., C018. 1449-61.

12235;. 232,,310 H. C. Deb. 53., cols. 1476-81.
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George was unfair since Eden had just said the staff talks were

to be strictly limited to technicalities and would not carry

with them any political considerations. Nevertheless, his

speech made a definite impression on the House. Until the

staff conversations finally were held, the Government was

questioned incessantly if the necessary precautions were

being taken lest the "French generals who are politically

minded" get definite commitments from Britain.13 Like the

debate on March 9th, the House of Commons again demonstrated

on Marchhzéth that it vehemently desired peace and not one

speaker was so bold as to demand economic sanctions-~much

less military action.

The same day that the debate took place, Geyr von

Schweppenburg, the German military attache in London, called

on the British War Office. The major topic of discussion

was the possible construction of permanent fortifications in

the Rhineland now that German sovereignty had been established.

Schweppenburg quite frankly asked the British officials if

they believed that the proposed Rhineland fortifications would

cover a German offensive in the East. The British admitted

their anxiety that German fortifications along the Franco-German

 

13Parl. Deb., 310 H. c. Deb. 5s., cols. 1625, 1814, 1993,

2122-23, 2410, 2589-90, 2948.
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frontier might be used to hold off the French army while an

attadk was made on one of the Eastern European countries,

particularly Poland. They also pointed out to the German

military attache the awkward position the British Imperial

General Staff had been put in. The Imperial General Staff

had been working to bring about the eventual remilitarization

of the Rhineland and had hoped to link it with a western Air

Pact. But by taking the law into their own hands, Germany

had nullified these good intentions.14 A few days later

Schweppenburg sent a report to Berlin. Unlike his panicky

reports during the first days of the crisis, he said the‘

atmosphere in London was calm and the British desire for

good relations with Germany was still present.1

However calm the situation may have been, the Cabinet

felt it would have to go through with the Staff talks in

order to placate the French. At a Cabinet meeting on the

morning of March.30th arrangements for the coming Staff

talks with Belgium and France were discussed. Some ministers

feared that the scope of the talks might become too wide and

take on political considerations. To guard against this

 

14Schweppenburg, Critical Years, pp. 66-67.

15Schweppenburg, Critical Years, p. 68.
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danger, it was believed the Cabinet agreed to draft the

agenda and instruct the officers representing Britain not

to exceed its limits.16 The mood of British public opinion

made these precautions necessary. Had it become known

that.military conventions were even being considered, it

might have forced the resignation of the Government.

Ribbentrop arrived back in London on March 3lst and

on the following day he handed Eden the new German Peace

Plan.17 Once again Germany offered to sign non-aggression

pacts with her neighbors and to negotiate an air pact. The

most.important addition in this new peace plan was a German

offer neither to reinforce her Rhineland garrisons nor to

move them closer to the frontier for a period of four months--

but with the condition that Belgium and France treat their

frontier forces in a similar manner. Germany proposed that

 

1

6The Times, March 31, 1936, p. 16.

17Cmd. 5175, No. 2, Peace Plan of the German Government

of March 31, 1936, communicated by Ribbentrop, April 1, 1936.

Hitler's hand in negotiating with Britain had been further

strengthened on March 29th by the results of the German plebes-

cite. Over 98% of the people had endorsed his three year for-

eign policy. Although the plebiscite was closely "supervised”

by Nazi toughs, there seems little doubt that the people fully

approved of Hitler's spectacular successes in external affairs.

For statistics regarding the election, see ng_Times, March 30,

1936, p. 12.
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a Guarantee Commission made up of European powers supervise

the execution of the above measures. In fact, Germany ex-

pressed her willingness to agree to any military limitations

on her western frontier provided it were done on a basis of

complete reciprocity with Belgium and France. The new Peace

Plan also urged that the youth of Germany and France should be

educated in a manner so as not to poison relations between the

two countries; this agreement was to be ratified by a plebis-

cite of the two peoples. Germany also made a proposal calling

for the creation of an international court of arbitration.

The suggested functions of this court were strangely similar

to that of the Hague Court which Germany had just recently

refused to recognize. Once the above agreements had been

worked out Germany proposed to call a series of disarmament

conferences. The practical objectives of these conferences

should be the prohibition of gas and incendiary bombs, the

prohibition of bombing or shelling of areas outside of the

fighting zone, and the abolition and prohibition of heavy tanks

and heavy artillery. After all the political treaties had been

signed, Germany promised to enter into an exchange of views

on the economic conditions of Europe. When Eden had finished

reading the memorandum, Ribbentrop said he would remain in

London for the next few days in order to answer any questions
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regarding the German Peace Plan.

Eden made an immediate report to the British Cabinet which

found the new'German proposals "most important" and "deserving

"19 The Cabinet was disappointed that theof careful study.

German memorandum was completely silent about the erection of

permanent fortifications in the Rhineland. Britain had hoped

that Germany might offer not to build fortifications--as

opposed to merely stationing troops--for a certain period of

time as her contribution in restoring confidence. Certainly

the Peace Plan did not completely reassure the members of the

Cabinet, for after examining the German proposals they agreed

to give the Letters of Guarantee drawn up on March 19th to

Belgium and France.20 These were handed to the French and

Belgian Ambassadors on the following day, April 2nd, by the

1

British Foreign Secretary.2 The effect of each letter was

 

N. Y. Times, April 2, 1936, p. 20.

19

Parl. Deb. 310 H. C. Deb. 55., col. 2303

2°The Times, April 2, 1936, p. 14.

1

2 British gym. 5149, Correspondence Betwegg the United

in thg Event 9; Unpgovoked AggressionT_London, Apfil—T 1936

(London, 1936), Nos. 2 and 5, Eden to the Belgian and French

Ambassadors in London, April 1, 1936. Hereafter cited as

Cmd. 5149.
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somewhat diminished, however, by an accompanying Note which

stated "that the delivery of this letter in no way implies

that in the view of His Majesty's Government...the effort of

reconciliation referred to in this letter has failedf' The

accompanying Note also wanted it understood "that this con-

tact between the General Staffs cannot give rise in respect

of either Government to any political undertaking, no! to any

obligation regarding the organization of national defence."22

On April 3rd the French and Belgian Ambassadors assured Eden

that their Governments intended to abide by the conditions

laid down by the British Government.23

The same day that the Letters of Guarantee were de-

livered, Eden had an interview with Ribbentrop. In summar-

izing this conversation to the House of Commons, Eden said:

I emphasized to Herr von Ribbentrop that our

object in the present difficult situation was

the same as it had been from the first: to seek

to get negotiations going to bring about a final

settlement. I asked Herr von Ribbentrop to assure

the German Chancellor that His Majesty's Govern-

ment would spare no effort to that end. At the

same time I felt bound to point out to him that

 

22Cmd. 5149, Nos. 1 and 4, Eden to the Belgian and French

Ambassadors in London, April 1, 1936.

23Cmd. 5149, Nos. 3 and 6, Belgian and French Ambassadors

to Eden in London, April 1, 1936.
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in respect of the interim period, for which

His Majesty's Government had particularly

appealed for a contribution, the German

Government had not been able to meet us.
24

It was reported that Eden suggested to Ribbentrop that Germany

refrain from building permanent fortifications in the Rhine-

land for a period of four months as her contribution.25 On

the following day, April 3rd, Ribbentrop called on Eden to

bring him a message he had just received from Hitler.

Ribbentrop said Germany could not consent to postpone her

fortification of the Rhineland. However, Ribbentrop hinted

that if the Three-Power staff talks were called off, Germany

might modify her attitude towards fortifying the Rhineland.26

This vague offer was not acceptable to the British Foreign

Secretary. Paul Schmidt says that Herr Ribbentrop was en-

raged over his inability to prevent the staff conversations.27

In the meantime the French Ambassadors in Britain, Poland,

Germany and Italy were recalled to Paris. Along with the

regular members of the Government, the Ambassadors worked on

a memorandum as a reply to the new German Peace Plan. The

 

24§§£;,Q§Q., 310 H. C. Deb. 58., col. 2304.

252119. Times. April 3, 1936, p. 16.
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6The Times, April 4, 1936, p. 14.

27Schmidt, Interpreter, p. 49.
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French.Memorandum, released on April 8th, was highly critical

of the German Peace Plan, calling it "more apparent than

real."28 It also addressed several searching questions con-

cerning the German Government's future intentions, and also

included a twenty-five point peace plan. Since the lengthy

French Peace Plan figured but little in the subsequent negoti-

ations, it will not be reviewed here. The almost immediate

death of the French Peace Plan was probably due to a large

extent to the uniform editorial criticism of the British

press.29

A few<iays before the French proposals were made public,

the French and Belgian representatives in London began to

press Eden for another Locarno meeting. At first Eden was

doubtful as to the utility of such a meeting at the present

stage of negotiations. He, nevertheless, felt an exchange

of views might be helpful and so he gave his assent, though

making it clear to the French and Belgian representatives

that by coming to the meeting Britain did not agree that the

effort at reconciliation was at an end.30

 

28

Documents, pp. 197-210.

N. Y. Times, April 9, 1936, p. 17.
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The Locarno meeting was held on April 10th at Geneva.

Great Britain was represented by Eden and Lord Halifax, France

by Flandin, Belgium by Paul van Zeeland, and Italy by Baron

Aloisi. At the start of the conversations Baron Aloisi asked

if Italy's presence and collaboration was wanted since "in all

the recent manifestations of the British Government Italy has

been ostensibly ignored.31 This statement was rather surprising

since Britain had done anything but ignore Italy. On the con-

trary, the British Foreign Secretary, the House of Commons,

and the British press had been highly critical of Italian

actions in Abyssinia, particularly in regard to the use of

poison gas, the bombing of civilian centers, and the attacks

on Red Cross units. The Italian delegate undoubtedly meant

to use this occasion to protest against the hostile attitude

of Britain. Evidently Aloisi received the desired assurance

for he did not withdraw from the meeting.

The French delegation was believed to have tried to im-

press upon the British that the "effort of conciliation"

32
‘referred to in the March 19th Text of Proposals had failed.

Thus the Locarno Powers should now decide upon joint measures

 

31The Times, April 11, 1936, p. 12.

32Toynbee, Survey, p. 333.
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"to meet the new situation created." They put forward the

idea of applying the financial and economic sanctions against

Germany, but this scheme did not have the support of either

the Belgians or the British. After the last meeting that day

a communigyé'was issued. The Locarno Powers—-the Italian

delegate reserving his approval--noted that Germany had still

not made a contribution that was necessary to reestablish con-

fidence and permit immediate negotiations. So as to explore

completely all the opportunities of conciliation, Great

Britain was commissioned by the other Locarno members to get

in touch with the German Government in order to have a number

of points in the German Memorandum of April lst elucidated.

It was also decided to have the Three-Power staff talks be-

gin on April 15th, and to have another Locarno meeting in

Geneva at the next session of the League Council.33

Eden returned to London on April 11th. Soon the For-

eign Secretary along with other members of the Government and

Foreign Office began preparing a questionnaire to Germany

concerning the April lst Peace Plan. Representatives of the

interested Powers called on Eden and presented their views on

the points they wished elucidated. Among these visitors at

 

”The. gi_m_e_s_, April 11, 1936, p. 12.
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the Foreign Office was Maisky, the Russian Ambassador. The

§§g£, a Liberal newspaper, claimed that the original draft

of the British questionnaire did not mention Russia and

her desire to sign a non-aggression pact with Germany. Only

after two visits by Maisky to the Foreign Office and "lively

argument," said the §£§£, was this provision inserted in the

34
questionnaire.

While work was progressing on the questionnaire, Hitler

35
had proclaimed April 24th as Colonial Memorial Day.

Whether the demand for its colonies was a sincere desire by

the German Government or only a propaganda ruse is not im-

portant here. What does matter is that Germany probably

hoped to throw the British off balance during the negotiations

by threatening to demand back her former colonies. The Nazis

must certainly have calculated that if they kept up a persis-

tent claim for colonies, Britain might be willing to make

concessions to Germany in other fields. Throughout the month

of April the House of Commons had put pressure on Baldwin's

Cabinet to disavow publicly any intention of giving Germany

back her former colonies.36 On April 27th Baldwin told the

 

34Bilainkin, Maisky, p. 154.

N. Y. Times, April 24, 1936, p. 10.
 

Earl. Deb., 310 H. C Deb 53., cols. 2415, 2750-51,

2943, and 311 H C Deb. 55., cols. 308-309, 552-553.
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House of Commons during an Oral Question period: "As regards

the policy oleis Majesty's Government, I repeat once more

in the most categorical terms that we have not considered

and we are not considering the transfer of any mandated

territories to any other Power."37 Despite Baldwin's state-

ment, some anxiety was still expressed from time to time

over the fate of Britain's colonies and mandated territories.

On May 7th, Sir Eric Phipps handed a copy of the British

Questionnaire to Baron von Neurath. Eden had instructed Phipps

to hand the Questionnaire to Hitler, but due to the Chan-

cellor's absence from Berlin the document was given to his

Foreign Minister. The Questionnaire stated the British

Government was studying the German Peace Plan but certain

points needed to be clarified. It asked if Germany felt her-

self in a position to conclude "genuine treaties" since it

"would be useless if one of the parties hereafter felt free

to deny its obligations on the ground that that party was not

at the time in a condition to conclude a binding treaty."

Other pertinent questions addressed to the German Government

followed. Did Germany intend to respect the territorial arrange-

ment of Europe and the remaining clauses of the Treaty of

 

37£g£1,2gb.,3 311 H. C. Deb. 55., col. 553.



118

Versailles? Did Germany's offer of a Western Air Pact include

an agreement for a limitation of air strengths? Did Germany's

offer of non-aggression pacts extend to Latvia, Estonia and

the Soviet Union? What were to be the functions and consti-

tution of Germany's proposed court of arbitration and what

was to be its relation to the League Council and the Hague

Court? Would the German Government elucidate on the phrase

”separation of the League Covenant from its Versailles

setting?" Questions concerning the Rhineland and colonies

Q
30

were conspicuous by their absence.

When Phipps handed the Questionnaire to Neurath, he

asked that its contents be kept absolutely secret and to this

the German Foreign Minister willingly assented. Later that

day Phipps informed Neurath that a leak had occurred in the

British Foreign Ofifice and the contents would have to be

published the following morning. Neurath had no choice but

to agree to Phipps' request.39i

The initial response of the German Government to this

rather blunt Questionnaire was surprisingly mild. The Berlin

correspondent of the London Times wrote that the first reaction

 

38Cmd. 5175, No. 3, Eden to Phipps, containing the British

Questionnaire to the German Government, May 6, 1936.

39FRUS, I, p. 303, Memorandum by Bullitt, May 18, 1936.
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in the German capital to this document was that an uncongenial

task had been performed in a very courteous manner. The

questions were admitted to be fair, and assurances were given

that they would be "thoroughly and sympathetically treated."40

Despite these assurances the British Government was never to

41

receive an answer to their Questionnaire.

 

40

The Times, May 9, 1936, p. 14.

41Hitler did not publicly refer to the British Ques-

tionnaire until January 30, 1937. Addressing the Reichstag,

Hitler said he believed the document owed its origin entirely

to the British desire to make a contribution towards disen-

tangling the international situation at that time. Hitler

continued:- "We preferred to settle some of those questions in

the most natural way by the practical building up of our

relations with our neighbors...." Baynes, Speeches, p. 1346.



Chapter VI

RECOGNITION OF HITLER'S FAIT ACCOMPLE
 

The summer and fall of 1936 saw the triumph of British

policy. At least it was successful in that Great Britain had

finally persuaded France to enter into negotiations with

Germany. Thus any possibility of French armed intervention

in the Rhineland was formally brought to an end. Britain was

to be disappointed, however, if she had hoped to negotiate a

new Locarno Pact, for now that German troops were entrenched

in the Rhineland, Hitler was not anxious to enter into so

binding a treaty.

The success of Britain's policy was actually aided by

several external factors. In Belgium, the general elections

of May 24th had resulted in appreciable gains for the Rexists,

Flemish Nationalists, and Communists. This caused a certain

amount of apprehension in Belgium for these parties were all

dedicated to some fundamental change in the existing Belgian

state. In France, the Egont Populaigg had gained a sweeping

victory in the elections held on April 26th and May 3rd. The

British found the new French Prime Minister, Leon Blum, much

more amenable and placable than the stern Flandin. Furthermore,

almost immediately after the elections, the Governments of

Belgium and France were faced with crippling strikes, financial
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crises, and lawlessness. Thus it was necessary for these two

nations to subordinate foreign affairs to domestic problems.

Finally, in July of 1936 the Spanish Civil War broke out and

this event quickly overshadowed the Rhineland crisis. The

energies of European statesmen were now absorbed in trying

to neutralize the Spanish War and keep it from starting a

European conflagration. In the background of the Spanish

Civil War, the crisis precipitated by Hitler's reoccupation

of the Rhineland passed slowly, quietly, almost unnoticed

off the European scene.

While waiting for a reply from Berlin to the British

Questionnaire, the representatives of Belgium, France and

Great Britain held a Locarno conference on May 12th at

Geneva. There was actually little business to discuss but

they had met, nevertheless, because previous arrangements for

such a meeting had been made on April 10th. The delegates

felt it advisable to postpone any of their decisions until a

reply to the Questionnaire had been received from the German

Government. As soon asfa reply was available, they promised

1
to enter into contact.with one another for an exchange of views.

Anthony Eden was said to have been "greatly impressed" at the

 

1The Times, May 13, 1936, p. 16.
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meeting when Paul-Boncour of France produced detailed infor-

mation prepared by the French General Staff concerning the

German fortification of the Rhineland.

On May 14th, Sir Eric Phipps had an interview with

Hitler, who had just returned from South Germany. This inter-

View constituted the one Sir Eric was to have had when he

delivered the Questionnaire on May 7th. Sir Eric seems to

have tried to interpret the British Questionnaire in such a

manner as to make it seem as innocuous as possible to the

Germans. Apart from that, the conversation was of a general

nature, and the Leaguezand Anglo-Italian relations were dis-

cussed in addition to the Rhineland issue.3 As for a reply

to the Questionnaire, the German Chancellor said he was not

prepared to set a date until the new French Government had

taken office and expressed its view of the Franco-Soviet

Pact.4 This was an outright delaying tactic by Hitler since

it was obvious that the Front Popula;£§_would enthusiastically

suppOrt a treaty with the Soviet Union.

There were rumors in London at this time of a German

 

N. Y. Times, May 13, 1936, p. 18.

N. Y. Times, May 15, 1936, p. 14.
 

4FRUS, I, No. 269, p. 304, Bingham to Hull, May 19, 1936.
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invitation addressed to the British Government. The back-

ground of these allegations is as follows. On May 8th, Tpg

Tipgg carried a statement to the effect that Prince Bismarck,

the German Charge d'Affaires in London, had been instructed to
 

inform the British Foreign Office that a visit by Lord

Halifax to Berlin would be welcomed.5 However, on the fol-

lowing day Egg Timp§_retracted this statement, saying no such

instruction had been received at the German Embassy.6 Then on

May 19th, the American Ambassador in London telegraphed to

Washington that at a Cabinet meeting held on May 18th, it

was decided that "although the British Government prepared

to send Lord Halifax to Berlin for a conference with Hitler,

in the given circumstances no useful purpose would be served

by such a visit now."'7 Thus the original statement of The Times

 

5

The Times, May 8, 1936, p. 16.

6The Times, May 9, 1936, p. 14.

7FRUS, I, No. 269, p. 304, Bingham to Hull, May 19, 1936.

This story is further complicated by a conversation between the

American and British ppprgé d'Affgires in Berlin on July 28th.

The latter said that he could not understand the German refusal

of a visit to Berlin by Lord Halifax which Egg British pad pppr

posed. It does not seem very likely, however, that the British

proposed such a visit knowing the storm of indignation it would

have aroused in Paris, nor does it seem likely that the German

Government would have turned down this opportunity to ease the

European tension and drive a further wedge between Paris and

London. Evidently one or both of the Qpprge QLAffgires must

have misunderstood the situation. FRUS, I, No, 236, pp. 331-

332, Mayer to Hull, July 29, 1936.
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seems to be substantiated. What lends more credence to this

story is the resemblance it bears to the tactics used by the

German Government in the previous year. On March 16, 1935,

Germany had denounced the clauses of the Versailles Treaty

providing for her disarmament. Shortly afterwards, Sir

John Simon, the Foreign Secretary, and Anthony Eden, then

Lord Privy Seal, were invited to Berlin, and the British

Government accepted the invitation, much to the dismay of

the French. It would thus seem that the British Government

declined such an invitation in 1936 to avoid creating the

impression of rewarding Germany with a visit every time

Hitler broke an important treaty.

On May 23rd, Sir Eric Phipps called once again at

the Wilhelmstrasse to remind the German Government of

Britain's desire for a reply to the Ouestionnaire. He em-

phasized that Britain was anxious to have many of the points

in the German memoranda of March 7th, March 24th, and April lst

cleared up as soon as possible. The German Foreign Office

postponed the matter by once again informing Sir Eric on the

26th that no reply would be given until the new French Govern-

8
ment was formed. But by the first week of June the new French

 

8Par1. Deb., 313 H. c. Deb. 55., col. 191.
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Government had taken office and still no reply was received

from the Germans. Evidently these delays began to irritate

Eden, for on July 7th Eden told the House of Commons he was

"not prepared to ask for an answer again."9

As far as the British were concerned, the reluctance

of Germany to answer the Questionnaire was more than offset

by the change that had taken place in Paris. On June 4th

Leon Blum was officially installed as the French Prime

Minister and Delbos replaced Flandin as Minister of Foreign

Affairs. The peaceful and conciliatory tone of Blum's

Government on matters of foreign policy stood in sharp con-

trast to the previous ministry. Two days after he took

office, Blum made a ministerial declaration to the Chamber

of Deputies:

The will of the country is clear. It

wants peace. It wants it unanimously. It

wants indivisible peace with all the nations

of the world and for them all. It identifies

peace with respect for international law and

international contracts, with fidelity to the

signed engagement and the spoken word....The

Government will be guided by this unanimous

will, which is no way a sign of surrender or

weakness.1

 

9

”
U

arl. Deb., 314 H. C. Deb. 55., C015. 831-832.
 

10The Times, June 8, 1936, p. 13.
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This general statement of policy was further elucidated on

June 23rd. Again addressing the Chamber of Deputies, Blum

said the fundamental principles by which the Government would

be guided were "the substitution in all cases of negotiations

for warlike action, the establishment of effective mutual

assistance and collective security for the whole of Europe,

and a gppprochement between France and Germany on a basis of

mutual confidence, of which disarmament will be the acid

test."11 Thus Eden's task of bringing France around to the

British point of view was greatly simplified by the concilia-

tory policy adopted by the new French Government.

Eden flew to Paris on the 25th and discussed with Blum

and Delbos the recent French declarations on foreign pol-

That same evening Eden and Delbos left together by

train for Geneva in order to participate in the meetings of

the League Council and Assembly.

At Geneva, a series of informal conferences were held

from July lst to July 4th among Eden, Blum, Delbos, van Zeeland

 

The Times, June 24, 1936, p. 15.

12The Times, June 26, 1936, p. 16.
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and his Foreign Minister, Henri Spaak.13 The purpose of these

talks was to chart the course of negotiations for the immedi-

ate future now that the intentions of the new French

Government were known and it had become increasingly evident

that the German Government would not answer the British

Questionnaire. Blum no longer made it a necessary condition

that Germany make some contribution before negotiations be-

tween France and Germany could begin, but he did try to get

stronger and more binding guarantees of assistance from Great

Britain. A divergence of opinion, which marred so many other

Locarno meetings, broke out between the British and the French

delegates, although this time it was only over a matter of pro-

cedure. In planning for a future Locarno meeting, the British

wanted to include Germany while the French felt that the situ-

ation should be thoroughly discussed by the four remaining

Locarno Powers before an invitation was extended to Germany.

Eden finally accepted Blum's argument and on July 3rd a joint

communigpé'was issued which expressed the desirability of

holding a Four-Power Locarno conference, although no place or

 

13

When Paul van Zeeland formed the new Belgian Cabinet,

he relinquished the portfolio of Foreign Affairs to Henri

Speak.

14Toynbee, Survey, p. 346-347.
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date was set.15 It was agreed that Van Zeeland should handle

the invitations for the coming meeting.

An invitation was accordingly sent to the Italian

Government, but it soon became a source of speculation whether

Italy would accept the invitation or not. On July llth, Sir

Eric Drummond, the British Ambassador in Rome, called on the

new Italian Foreign Minister, Count Ciano.16 Ciano let

Drummond read a copy of the Note he had prepared in reply to

van Zeeland's invitation. Although not openly rejecting the

invitation, the Note said Italy had "been obliged to take

account of the existence of certain Mediterranean obligations

which form an obstacle to Italy's participation," and felt

that Germany's absence from the Locarno meeting would "com-

plicate rather than clarify the existing situation."17 In

 

15The Times, July 4, 1936, p. 14.

16Anglo-Italian relations had considerably improved

since Italy annexed Abyssinia on May 9th. Mussolini, now

satisfied for the time being, had given public assurances on

May 27th that Italy in no way wished to endanger British

interests in the Mediterranean. The Italian press also toned

down its hostile attitude toward Great Britain, N. Y. Times,

May 28, 1936, p. 4. Eden's request to the House of Commons

on June 18th that sanctions be dropped undoubtedly helped in

improving relations with Italy. Parl. pgp., 313 H. C. Deb. 55.,

col. 1201.

17Documents, p. 218.
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the conversation that had preceeded the reading of the Note,

Drummond had told Ciano that Britain still considered her

unilateral declarations of assistance to the smaller Mediter-

ranean Powers to be in effect. Thus it was obvious to Ciano

that Britain was not prepared for the time being to meet the

first condition. As for the condition regarding Germany's

participation, Drummond told Ciano that Germany could not be

placed in the same category as the other Locarno Powers be-

cause she had not fulfilled her obligations toward the

Locarno Treaty.18

After the Italian reply became known, the British Cabi-

net appears to have been opposed to a meeting of only three

of the Locarno Powers. However, Corbin visited the British

Foreign Office and pressed very strongly for a preliminary

conference of Belgium, France, and Great Britain, regardless

of the attitude adopted by Italy.19 Britain finally accepted

the idea of a three-Power conference but made it understood

that her acceptance in no way implied that the effort of con-

ciliation had failed.20 Britain further insisted that the

 

18Ciano's Diplomatic Papers, ed. Malcolm Muggeridge,

trans. Stuart Hood (London, 1948), pp. 16-17.

192h2_I;Q§§, July 16, 1936, p. 16.

20Toynbee, Survey, p. 347.
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agenda of the conference be worked out fully in advance and

that its purpose was merely to clear the ground for a future

21 France gave Britain the necessaryfive-Power conference.

assurances that these conditions would be observed, and on

July 215t the representatives of Belgium, France, and Great

Britain were able to issue a communigpé’stating that the con-

ference would be held on the 23rd in London.22 During the

negotiations that had preceeded the three-Power conference

in order to draw up the agenda, Britain "had been at pains

to keep the German and Italian representatives informed of

what was in contemplation."23

The Locarno meeting was held as scheduled in the Cabinet

Room at 10 Downing Street. Representing Great Britain were

Eden, Lord Halifax, Sir Robert Vansittart, and Stanley Baldwin.

This marked the first appearance of the British Prime Minister

at a Locarno conference since the crisis began. France was

represented by Blum and Delbos, Belgium by van Zeeland and

Spaak. Because the agenda had been carefully planned, the

 

21The Times, July 20, 1936, p. 12.

22The Times, July 22, 1936, p. 16.

23Eden's own admission to the House of Commons. Parl.

Deb., 315 H. C. Deb. 55., col. 1118.
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conference went along smoothly and lasted only one day. The

British were obviously pleased with the conciliatory attitude

adopted by the Belgian and French ministers, and in a speech

to the House of Commons on the 27th Eden paid tribute to

their "far-seeing statesmanship and generous collaboration."24

On the evening of July 23rd the delegates issued a

Communiqué'which embodied the conclusions arrived at during

their conversations. The delegates of Britain, Belgium, and

France felt that all the nations of Europe should direct their

efforts "to consolidate peace by means of a general settle-

ment" and that "nothing would be more fatal to the hopes of

such a settlement than the division, apparent or real, of

Europe into opposing blocs." The most important paragraph

of the communiqué'read:

The three Governments accordingly consider

that steps should be taken to arrange a meeting

of the five Locarno Powers as soon as such a

meeting can conveniently be held. The first

business to be undertaken should....be to

negotiate a new agreement to take the place of

the Rhine Pact of Locarno, and to resolve,

through the collaboration of all concerned,

the situation created by the German initiative

of March 7th.

The three Governments accordingly declared their intention of

entering into contact with the Italian and German Governments

 

24Parl. Deb., 315 H. c. Deb. 55., col. 1117.
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in order to secure their presence at the proposed meeting. If

this meeting proved successful, then other matters affecting

European peace could come under discussion.25

This communiqué‘marks the triumph of British diplomacy

in the Rhineland crisis. 'France had finally agreed to enter

into negotiations with Germany, a point that Britain had con-

sistently maintained was necessary in order to reduce inter-

national tension. Furthermore, the delegates of Belgium,

France and Great Britain discreetly admitted in the communiqué'

that the Locarno Pact was ineffectual without the adherence

of Germany. The tone of the July 23rd communique is definitely

conciliatory, especially when compared with those issued during

the early weeks of the crisis. Net only did the effective

Locarno Powers express their willingness on July 23rd to

negotiate with Germany, but they implied that the five-Power

conference would take place at a time that was convenient for

Germany, as well as Italy. And, as Arnold Toynbee remarked,

"the polite terms in which Germany's breach of treaty was

referred to--'the situation created by the German initiative

of the 7th March'--were almost equivalent to a formal recog-

nition of the fait accompli in the Rhineland."26

 

25Documents, pp. 218-219.

26Toynbee, Survey, p. 349.
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However, the French did win some concession at the

July 23rd meeting. The communigué'had been drawn up "mind-

ful of the arrangements of March 19, of the proposals of the

German Chancellor of March 31, and of those of-the French

Government of April 8."27 This meant Britain still considered

that the guarantees given to France and Belgium on March 19th

and strengthened in the Letters of Guarantee delivered on~

April 2nd were still in effect. It also meant that the

effective Locarno Powers wanted the French Peace Plan as

well as Hitler's Peace Proposals to be the basis of a future

European settlement. Finally, the Locarno Powers had, in

effect, imposed a condition on Germany when they insisted

that a Rhine Pact be negotiated before a discussion of

Hitler's Peace Proposals could be entered into.

The British were apparently entirely satisfied with

the events of July 23rd. Eden proudly told the House of

Commons on July 27th: "The communiqué’which we issued at

the end of our deliberations shows that we now look definitely

28

to the future and do not confine ourselves to the past."

 

27Documents, pp. 218-219.

28

Parl. Deb., 315 H. C. Deb 55., col. 1117.
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On the day after the communique was issued, July 24th,
 

Eden summoned the German and Italian Charge d'Affaire§_to
 

the Foreign Office. He explained to them the scope and pur-

pose of the communiqué'and expressed to them the hope that

their Governments would be able to return a favorable answer

to the invitation.29 On July 3lst the German and Italian

Governments gave an affirmative reply, but they insisted that

the five-Power conference be adequately and thoroughly pre-

pared through the ordinary diplomatic channels.30 Every

time that Britain tried to pin Germany down to a specific

date for the conference, the latter offered some excuse

that prevented her attendance. Seeing how little the

negotiations had progressed, Britain took it upon herself to

try to expedite the matter. Consequently on September 17th a

British Note was sent to the Foreign Offices in Rome, Paris,

Brussels, and Berlin. The Note listed the principal questions

that would have to be solved at a five-Power conference, gave

the British view on these questions, and asked the other

Governments to clarify their position in a reply to Britain.31

 

zggpgl. 2gp., 315 H. C. Deb. 55., col. 1118.

30Documents, pp. 219-220.

31:525. I, No. 1094, Enclosure 1, pp. 384-385, Morris to

Hull, Dec. 19, 1936.
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It was over a month before replies had been received from all

four Governments. A further British Note was again addressed

to Berlin, Paris, Brussels, and Rome on Nevember 19th giving

additional British views on the basis of replies received.32

When the year closed out, the chances of a new Locarno being

negotiated were slim indeed.

In the latter part of 1936 there was a noticeable im-

provement in Anglo-French relations now that the antagonism

engendered by the Rhineland crisis had been removed. Duff

Cooper, the Minister of War, addressed the Association

France-Grande Bretagne on June 24th.

Franco-British friendship is not a question

of sentiment or even a question of choice.

It is an urgent necessity, a question of

life and death for our two countries....Not

only our frontiers but our very ideals are

in mortal danger....At a period as dangerous

as ours we cannot better help the cause of

world peace than in giving the whole world

the continuous proof of the solidity of our

friendship and of the unity of France and

Great Britain.33

This speech aroused some speculation as to whether Duff Cooper

was voicing a personal opinion or whether he had the sanction

of the British Cabinet. Later in the year, in a speech at

 

32FRUS I No. 1094, Enclosure 3, p. 387, Morris to

Hull, De'—'Ic.9, i936.

33Toynbee, Survey, p. 346.
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Leamington on November 20th, Eden said the British armed

forces would "be used in the defence of France and Belgium

against unprovoked aggression."34 The French Foreign

Minister, Delbos, made a reciprocal statement on December 4th

when he told the Chamber of Deputies "that all the forces

of France on land, on sea, and in the air would be spontane-

ously and immediately used for the defence of Great Britain

35 Thesein the event of an unprovoked aggression."

declarations of Anglo-French unity were almost mandatory

now that the Locarno Pact had, in effect, ceased to exist,

and the remilitarization of the Rhineland had profoundly

altered the military balance in Europe.

 

34Documents, p. 262.

35Documents, p. 265.





CONCLUSION

British diplomatic action during the Rhineland crisis

was greatly influenced by public opinion in Great Britain.

From the beginning of the crisis, Baldwin's Cabinet had to

take into account the pacifist attitude of the people. The

newspapers, the major political parties, and leading public

figures were almost unanimous in their rejection of military,

economic, or financial sanctions as an answer to Hitler's

repudiation of the Locarno Pact. The British people could

not see the sense of risking war merely because Hitler had

chosen to occupy his own territory.

During the period that followed the reoccupation of

the Rhineland, Great Britain maintained that although

Germany's action should be condemned, the door to negotiations

’should not be closed. Britain's insistence that the Locarno

Powers consult with each other and also refer their case to

the League was nothing but a successful stalling action. By

the time the League had found Germany guilty of a breach of

treaty, the most opportune moment for the expulsion of the

German troops from the Rhineland had passed. Britain had

hoped to negotiate a new Locarno Pact--minus the Rhineland

provisions--with Germany. And although France finally
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yielded to British pressure and entered into negotiations

with Germany, the latter avoided all attempts to sign a new

treaty.

British success in neutralizing any Locarno action was

aided by the other signatories of the Pact. The French

Government failed to demonstrate any effectual leadership

during the crisis. Italy's aggression in Abyssinia had

isolated her from the other Locarno Powers, and this meant

that Britain's share in any military action against Germany

would be correspondingly increased. Belgium appears to have

followed the lead of Great Britain throughout the crisis.

The Rhineland crisis is a good example of the advantages

a dictatorial form of government has when dealing with a dem-

ocratic state. Acting with decisiveness and without scruple,

the Nazi government presented its opponents with a gal;

gccompli. By consulting the German people only after the

event, Hitler allowed public opinion to be influenced by the

Government's foreign policy rather than to have an active

part in determining it. But Britain, being a democracy, had

to adopt a policy which reflected essentially the wishes of

the people. The Cabinet of Stanley Baldwin did not possess

enough far-seeing statesmen and men of courage who were

willing to flaunt public opinion temporarily in order to
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preserve the integrity of freely-signed treaties. Because of

the attitude of the British public during the crisis and the

state of international affairs in 1936, it is difficult to

see how the Government of Great Britain could have acted any

differently than it did.



BIBLIOGRAPHICAL NOTE

Primary sources:

One of the most valuable sources for the preparation

of this thesis was published documents. The only British

Foreign Office documents on the Rhineland crisis are found

in the Parliamentary Command Papers (cited as Cmd.), Nos. 5118,

5134, 5143, 5149, 5160, and 5175. These Command Papers con-

tain, in addition to regular diplomatic correspondence, the

official texts of the peace plans and other important memo-

randa issued during the crisis. Five very important telegrams

exchanged between the French Foreign Minister and the French

Ambassador in London during the early days of the crisis are

found in Les Evenements Survenus pp Eggpge g; 12;; g 1235‘

Temoingges g; Documents Recueillis par lg_Commission D'Enqgete

Egrlementaire (8 vols., Paris, l947-52L, III, 590-592. A

source which throws much light on the diplomatic activity of

the Locarno Powers is Volume I of the Foreign Relations of the

Qpited States: .1936 (6 vols., Washington, 1953). Statesmen

of the Locarno Powers confided in the American diplomats to an

amazing degree and these conversations were in turn reported

in despatches to Washington. The League g: Nations Official

Joupnal 1936 contains the official version of British
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diplomatic action in the League Council, while the House of

Commons Earliamentary.gebates, Vols. 309, 310, 313, 314, 315,

show the response of the politicians and political parties

to the reoccupation of the Rhineland. Moreover, Eden's

periodic reports to the Commons concerning diplomatic ne-

gotiations are at times highly revealing. Other document

collections of lesser importance for this work are: Stephen

Heald, ed., Documepts pp International Affairs: 1936 (London,

1937), which contains press releases and interviews from

British newspapers that otherwise were not available; and Tyig;

g; the Major War Eggminals Before the International Military

Tribunal (42 vols., Nuremberg, 1947-49), which gives some

information on the deployment and number of German troops in

the Rhineland.

The newspapers were useful in filling in the daily account

of the negotiations. The Times of London, despite a pacifist

editorial policy, nevertheless maintained its usual high stan-

dard of objective reporting, and its English translations of

speeches delivered in French, German, and Italian were of

particular help. A more astute political analysis of the

Rhineland crisis is found in The New York Times, although the

coverage declined somewhat after the month of May.

A number of memoirs and official biographies provide

much useful information on the Rhineland crisis. Paul Reynaud,
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Lg Egg Epigh_g§ Epg_§;gp_: 1930-1945, trans. James Lambert

(London, 1955) gives a fairly objective account of the early

French Cabinet meetings. The position adopted by the British

during the Locarno meetings is brought out in Pierre-Etienne

Flandin, Politique Franqaise (Paris, 1947); however, Flandin

has been accused of acting weakly during the crisis and his

memoirs are biased in his defense. A standard account of the

crisis by the French Ambassador to Berlin in 1936 is Andre

Francois-Poncet's The Fateful Years, trans. Jacque LeClercq

(New York, 1949).

The reaction of the British War Office and of the

German Embassy staff in London to the reoccupation of the

Rhineland is brought out clearly in General Baron Geyr von

Schweppenburg, Tpg_9£;g;cal Years (London, 1952). Although

poor on dates: Paul Schmidt, Hitler's ngerpreter (New York,

1951) does show how Ribbentrop worked to prevent the Anglo-

French staff talks from taking place. The second volume of.

Nbrman Baynes, ed., The Speeches pg Adolf Hitle; (2 vols.,

New York, 1942) contains a well-edited collection of Hitler's

speeches on foreign policy during the inter-war years. Egg

Ribbentrop Memoirs (London, 1954) are so heavily biased that

they are of little value for any serious study.
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Winston Churchill, The Gathering Storm (Boston, 1948)

has an entire chapter devoted to the Rhineland affair. This

book is valuable not only for Churchill's personal recollections

of the crisis, but also for his critical comments on French

memoir material. Keith Feiling's Th2 pig; 9; Neville

Chamberlain (London, 1946) has a brief but rather significant

account of Chamberlain's part in the Locarno negotiations.

The exaggerated notion of German air power which some British

politicians had in 1936 is briefly mentioned in Hugh Dalton,

Egg Fateful‘nggg: Memoirs 1931-1945 (London, 1957). Only

an indirect reference to the Locarno meetings is found in

Lord Halifax, Fullness Q; ngg (New York, 1957). The fol-

lowing works in addition to supplying biographical infor-

mation, were useful in bringing out the pacifist attitude in

Great Britain prior to 1936: A. W Baldwin, My ngpgg: 12$

True Story (London, 1955); Alan Campbell Johnson, Anthony
 

Eden (New York, 1939); Alan Campbell Johnson, Viscount Halifax
 

(New York, 1941); Marquess of Londonderry, Ourselves gpg

Germany (London, 1938); Frank Owen, Tempestuous Journey:

Llpyg GeorgeI H;§_Li§g_apg Tipgg (New York, 1955); George

Young, Stanley Baldwin (London, 1952); and Lord Vansittart,

Lessons p§_My ngg (New York, 1943).

George Bilainkin's Maisky: Ten Years Ambassador
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(London, 1944) gives an account of the role the Russian

Ambassador in London played during the crisis. The value of,

this work is diminished by the fact that it is based almost

exclusively upon newspapers, some of rather dubious value.

Malcolm Muggeridge, ed., Ciano's Diplomat;g_Papers, trans.

Stuart Hood (London, 1948) contains a few biased accounts of

conversations which the Italian Foreign Secretary had with

the British Ambassador in Rome.

Although largely superseded by recent memoir material,

the best secondary account of the Rhineland crisis is still

found in Arnold Toynbee, Survey 9: Internationa1_Affa;£§,lggp

(London, 1937). Since Toynbee wrote his account so close in

time to the actual event, certain statements, e. 9. regarding

public opinion, can be used almost as primary sources. John

Wheeler-Bennett, The Nemesgg pg Egggp (New York, 1954) con-

tains a fairly thorough account of the reluctant part which

the Nazi military played in the Rhineland operation. Gaetano

Salvemini, Prelude 39 World Wa£:;; (New York, 1954) has a

chapter which is rather critical of British diplomatic action.

Many interesting though undocumented statements regarding

Great Britain's lack of leadership in foreign affairs during

the inter-war period can be found in Frederick L. Schuman,

Europe pp the Eve (New York, 1942). Dame Adelaide Livingstone,
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The Peace Ballot: The Official History (London, 1935)

throws additional light on the pacifism of the British

people in the early 'thirties.

There are very few scholarly articles and monographs

on the Rhineland crisis. "Pertinaxfi "British Vacillations,"

Foreign Affairs, XIV (1936), 584-597, is critical of British

Palicy during the Locarno meetings; and R. A. C. Parker,

"The First Capitulation: France and the Rhineland Crisis of

1936," WOrld Politics, VIII (1936), 355-373, shows the in-

eptitude of the French Government during the crisis.
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